

Please ask for: Dawn Hughes
 01492 576061

 committees@conwy.gov.uk
Our Ref: DEJ/DCH
Your Ref:
Date: 17/01/2020

NOTICE OF MEETING

Conwy and Denbighshire Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Council Chamber - Bodlondeb

Friday, 24 January 2020

10.00 am

Delyth E Jones
Head of Law and Governance

To:-

Councillors:

Jeanette Chamberlain-Jones
Geoff Corry
Brian Cossey (Chair)
Rachel Flynn
Chris Hughes
Hugh Irving
Ifor Lloyd
Melvyn Mile

Arwel Roberts
Liz Roberts
Harry Saville
Peter Scott
Nigel Smith
Graham Timms (Vice-Chair)
Joan Vaughan
David Gwyn Williams

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 1

mailto:committees@conwy.gov.uk


A G E N D A

Note - In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972, the Public and Press may be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration of items where exempt information is likely to be disclosed.

Reminder – You are welcome to use the Welsh language at this meeting.  Simultaneous translation is 
available.

1. Apologies for absence    

2. Declarations of Interest: Code of Local Government Conduct     
Members are reminded that they must declare the existence and nature of 
their declared personal interests.

3. Urgent matters     
Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be considered 
at the meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

4. Minutes     
To approve and sign as a correct record minutes of the previous meeting.
(Pages 4 - 11)

5. To receive an update on progress of the Conwy & Denbighshire Public 
Services Board priorities as follows:    

i) Community Empowerment Update (Judith Greenhalgh, Chief 
Executive of Denbighshire County Council)   (Pages 12 - 20)

ii) Environment Priority Update (Sian Williams, Head of North Wales 
Operations for Natural Resources Wales)   (Pages 21 - 46)

6. To receive an update from the North Wales Fire and Rescue Service on 
the contribution of partners and benefits to partners of the Public 
Services Board    

7. Wales Audit Office - Review of Public Services Board and Action Plan    
(Pages 47 - 97)

8. Forward Work Programme and Items for next meeting on Tuesday, 
24/03/20 @ 2.00 pm (Denbighshire County Council, Ruthin)  (Pages 98 - 99) 
Progress on the Public Services Board’s priorities: Supporting Good Mental 
Wellbeing for all ages (Richard Firth, Consultant in Public Health, Public 
Health Wales)

Update from BCUHB on the contribution of Partners and the benefits to 
Partners of the Public Services Board (Bethan Jones, Area Director – 
Central, BCUHB)



Note: The Local Government Act 1972 does not allow an item of business to be 
considered at a meeting of a principal Council unless requisite advance notice has 
been given. Therefore, unless the item is considered to be urgent, consideration of 
any other business is not allowed

In the event of the fire alarm being activated, would all Members please vacate 
the premises through the nearest fire exit.



CONWY AND DENBIGHSHIRE PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD JOINT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of a meeting of the Conwy and Denbighshire Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Meeting for the Conwy and Denbighshire Public Services Board (PSB) held in 
The Council Chamber, Bodlondeb, Conwy, LL32 8DU on Tuesday, 21 May 2019 at 2.00 
pm.

PRESENT

Present: Councillors Jeanette Chamberlain-Jones, Brian Cossey, Goronwy Edwards, 
Chris Hughes, Hugh Irving, Charlie McCoubrey, Melvyn Mile, Greg Robbins, Arwel 
Roberts, Harry Saville, Nigel Smith, Graham Timms, and Aaron Wynne.

ALSO PRESENT

Iwan Davies (Chief Executive of Conwy County Borough Council (CCBC) and Vice Chair 
of the Public Services Board PSB)), Sian Williams (Head of North Wales Operations for 
Natural Resources and PSB Chair), Nicola Kneale (Strategic Planning Team Manager 

Denbighshire County Council (DCC)), Natasha Hughes (Strategic Planning and 
Performance Officer DCC), Fran Lewis (Corporate Performance and Improvement 

Manager CCBC), Hannah Edwards (Public Services Board Development Officer CCBC), 
Steve Price (Democratic Services Manager DCC), Dawn Hughes (Scrutiny and 

Committee Services Officer CCBC), Rhian Evans (Scrutiny Coordinator DCC), Holly 
Ballard (Committee Administrator DCC).

 
PART I

Denbighshire County Council’s Democratic Services Manager welcomed everyone to the 
inaugural meeting of the new Conwy and Denbighshire Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (JOSC) for the Conwy and Denbighshire Public Services Board.  During his 
introduction he gave members an overview of the process followed to establish the JOSC 
and its terms of reference.  He explained that its establishment fulfilled a statutory duty 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 for the purpose of holding 
the PSB to account locally.  The Committee would also be a statutory consultee for all 
PSB plans. 
 

APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rachel Flynn, Councillor Peter 
Scott and Councillor David Gwyn Williams

Page 4

AGENDA ITEM 4



1 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Rachel Flynn, Peter Scott and David 
Williams.

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

No personal or prejudicial interests were declared.

Prior to seeking nominations for the role of Committee Chair and Vice-Chair for the 
2019/20 and 2020/21 municipal year, in line with the Committee’s terms of 
reference, DCC’s Head of Democratic Services sought the Committee’s views on 
how they wished to elect both office holders, by a show of hands or by a secret 
ballot.  It was:

Resolved: - that both office holders be elected through an open show of hands 
ballot.

3 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 

Nominations were sought for appointment to serve as the Chair of the JOSC.  
Councillor Brian Cossey was nominated and seconded.  No other nomination was 
received.  Therefore it was:

Resolved: - that Councillor Brian Cossey be elected Chair of the Conwy and 
Denbighshire Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the Public Services Board 
for the 2019/20 and 2020/21 municipal years

Councillor Cossey thanked everyone for their support and trust in him.

4 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR 

Nominations were sought for appointment to serve as Vice-Chair of the JOSC.  
Members were advised that in accordance with the Committee’s terms of reference 
the Vice-Chair should be appointed from amongst Committee members 
representing the local authority who did not hold the Chair of the Committee.  
Councillor Graham Timms was nominated and seconded.  No other nominations 
were received and it was:

Resolved: - that Councillor Graham Timms be elected as Vice-Chair of the Conwy 
and Denbighshire Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the Public Services 
Board for the 2019/20 and 2020/21 municipal years

5 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

No notifications of urgent matters had been received.

Page 5



6 CONWY AND DENBIGHSHIRE PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 
2018-19 

Iwan Davies, Public Services Board Vice Chair (PSBVC) advised members that as 
of June 2019, Sian Williams, Head of North Wales Operations for Natural 
Resources (HNWONRW) would be the Chair of the PSB and Judith Greenhalgh, 
Chief Executive of Denbighshire County Council would be the PSB Vice Chair. 

The PSBVC introduced the report and presentation (previously circulated) to 
presenting members with the PSB’s Annual Report for 2018-19.  He explained that 
every local authority area had a legal obligation to establish a PSB. As Conwy and 
Denbighshire had previously established a joint Local Service Board (LSB), the 
PSB’s predecessor, it was agreed to continue this partnership by establishing a 
joint PSB.   The membership of the PSB included both Councils, Police, Police and 
Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Service, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 
Board (BCUHB), Natural Resources Wales (NRW), Welsh Government (WG), 
North Wales Probation Service, Public Health Wales (PHW), the Wales Community 
Rehabilitation Company and the Voluntary Services Councils in both counties 
(CVSC & DVSC) etc. Other public type organisations could be invited to participate 
with the PSB’s work if it was deemed appropriate.  The PSB’s role was to improve 
the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of both county areas by 
working to achieve the seven well-being goals outlined in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WBFG (Wales) Act 2015).

Members were advised of the process followed to draw up the PSB’s Well-being 
Plan.  As part of this process the Public was approached in the summer of 2016 
using the County Conversations approach.  The purpose of this was to gain an 
understanding of what worked well in the different areas and what required to be 
focused on for the benefit of future generations.  Between the summer of 2016 and 
April 2017, the Wellbeing Assessment was compiled.  

The PSB decided that it should not duplicate the work that other organisation had 
done or would be doing, therefore the PSB identified 6 themes that could be 
reviewed. These being;

1. The First 1,000 days of life 
2. Promoting community hubs 
3. Promoting mental well-being for all ages 
4. Promoting resilience in older people 
5. Promoting environmental resilience 
6. Raising resilient and aspirational young people

Via the County Conversations process the PSB consulted with the public on these 
themes and based on the feedback received decided to rationalise the number of 
priority themes from 6 to 3. That was done by assessing the impact, long term 
implications and exploring whether work had already taken places elsewhere in 
relation to them.  Following this process the Wellbeing Plan itself was approved by 
each of the statutory partners prior to being approved by the PSB in April 2018.  
This final Plan identified a total of three themes that the PSB should collectively 
address, these being: 

Page 6



1. People – Supporting Good Mental Well-being for all ages
2. Community – Supporting Community Empowerment 
3. Place – Supporting Environmental Resilience 

The PSB also committed to 4 additional principles which support the 3 priority 
themes:

a. To tackle inequalities and treat everyone equally 
b. To support and promote the Welsh Language 
c. To support people so they can access healthy, safe appropriate accommodation
d. To avoid duplicating work.

The Head of North Wales Operations for NRW explained that at the beginning the 
PSB wanted to approach the project from a different angle, instead of having 
specialist in their relevant areas leading on delivering the priorities they would adopt 
a different approach by appointing specialists from other subject areas to lead on 
priorities outside of their specialist areas i.e. NRW to lead on mental health.  The 
aim of this was to allow different perspectives on the themes, in the hope that new 
questions could be asked to gain a different and better outcome. Practice found 
that this approach had not been as effective as originally anticipated.  Therefore 
from now on the specialist organisation would lead on the relevant themes to 
continue research. 

The first priority, Supporting Good Mental Well-being for all ages proved to be a 
bigger theme than anticipated. The incoming PSB Chair advised the Committee 
that a PSB Sub Group was created to gain an understanding of what work is 
already being done in the area via Local Boards and Partnerships. 

As per the enclosed report, Page 31. The first 2 stages of the Supporting Good 
Mental Well-being theme had been completed with the third stage in progress. 
Members were made aware that during the previous PSB meeting it was agreed to 
hand over the work stream to Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCUHB).  
There would now be a need to identify short, medium and long-term goals in 
relation to the themes delivery. 

The PSB’s Vice-Chair suggested to the Committee that it, as part of its future work 
programme, may want to assess the progress achieved to date in relation to this 
particular theme.

Denbighshire’s Strategic Planning Team Manager (SPTM) presented the second 
priority; Community – Supporting Community Empowerment to the group. 

She explained that the outcome had been formed by taking information from Public 
Workshops. The 3 areas identified were;

 Dementia Friendly Communities
 Social Prescribing
 Support for Homeless and Unstable Tenancies

Page 7



Members were advised that although Denbighshire took the lead on the theme 
Community Empowerment, they had plenty of support from departments in both 
Denbighshire and Conwy. During the workshops one partner of the PSB, 
Denbighshire Voluntary Services Council’s (DVSC) advised that they had received 
Welsh Government funding to deliver a Dementia Aware Community Led 
Programme, the PSB would support the programme and receive updates 
throughout year 2 of the plan. 

Originally the goal for Social Prescribing was to look at the provisions and formalise 
the offers to the public. SPTM said that during recent months the agenda had 
changed and the current focus for Social Prescribing was Weight Management. The 
intention would be to create a local plan for both Denbighshire and Conwy to help 
people manage their weight. The PSB was now seeking to develop a programme 
around weight management.

Members were made aware that the third area, Support for Homeless and Unstable 
Tenancies did not receive the same attention as the previous two areas this was 
due to capacity within the team. However the SPTM explained that they were aware 
of support that was currently available and would focus more on this area in the 
next financial year. 

Conwy’s Corporate Performance and Improvement Manager (CPIM), presented the 
third priority, Supporting Environmental Resilience.  She explained that one area 
they felt there was a gap in terms of partnership working was the urgency regarding 
climate change. 

The PSB felt that more work was required in relation to empowering communities to 
address the climate change problem and how the public sector could assist them.  
There was also a need to view the topic from a strategic level, through procurement 
processes, planning applications and waste services.

CPIM explained that 2 sub-groups had been established to focus on separate 
themes.  The first group would consist of environmental experts developing a policy 
statement that outlined what frameworks all would work towards, including areas of 
good practice and steps to take.  The second group would bring together 
environmental experts to develop community green pledges. The outcome being 
encouraging communities to assist. Research had found that some communities 
had already developed successful initiatives. Some community pledges had been 
drafted, these could be used as guides to suggest ways of being greener. 

CPIM advised members that town and community councils would be consulted 
during the summer of 2019. 

Another subject the PSB would be addressing would be environmental risks. 
Although this was in its infancy. Members were advised that discussions were 
underway.  It was also noted that there was an intention to work regionally, to 
ensure all councils could share ideas and implement them across North Wales. 

PSBVC praised the PSB on the progress made, noting that certain aspects of the 
Board’s research would need more time and attention. He also highlighted a 

Page 8



positive result of the PSB, that being the positive working relationships with other 
organisations, which was reaping dividends in various aspects of public sector work 
in the area. 

The SPTM for DDC added that there had been new changes in terms of housing 
legislation which had put pressure on Local Authorities. In terms of Denbighshire, 
they wanted to ensure the current process was correct before working with partner 
organisations, she confirmed this was why there had been a delay in relation to 
progressing the Housing element of the Community Empowerment theme.

Members recognised that there would be many things that could be shared 
between the both counties. A particular concern was the need to consider the 
effects and benefits for both counties of developments along the county border 
areas.  The PSBVC advised members that work had been done with the Local 
Development Plan (LDP), to ensure both LDPs were aware of each other’s County 
border concerns. 

Members agreed that Conwy and Denbighshire should be working together on a 
number of issue. Flooding was a major concern for both Counties and more work 
could be done collaboratively. Bodelwyddan having been identified in the North 
Wales Growth Bid as a development area had the potential to cause issues for both 
Denbighshire and Conwy. The PSB had recommended boards work regionally on 
the flood risk situation. NRW had already established groups to work together on 
flooding and associated matters – Gwynedd and Anglesey would be collaborating 
on flooding and climate change, whilst Denbighshire and Conwy would be working 
on the impact of these on communities across the region.  The findings of this work 
would be brought together and shared regionally.  

Members enquired what added benefits the PSB would bring to the people, also 
how the PSB could influence other services/organisations to assist. Explaining that 
the PSB would need to challenge the Welsh Government to provide resources to 
ensure that the priorities the PSB has identified can be addressed. PSBVC 
explained that the priority areas were developed jointly, but acknowledged that 
ensuring other services/organisations deliver their commitment can be challenging 
as their governance arrangements were different to those of local authorities.  
Challenging senior officials of partner organisations on their commitment to 
delivering the PSB’s priorities and plans was the Committee’s role.  Denbighshire’s 
Scrutiny Co-ordinator advised the Committee that it had powers to report to WG 
Ministers, the Auditor General for Wales and the Future Generations Commissioner 
on its opinion of the PSB’s work in delivering its priorities and its governance.
 
HNWONRW reminded members that the PSB was conscious of ensuring that it did 
not replicate ideas or changes that other services/organisation had already 
implemented. The PSB would look at work that had not been achieved in the past 
and assess whether a joint partnership approach would be able to deliver it. 

Members highlighted the fact that the plans for Wylfa Nuclear Power Station would 
not go ahead, therefore the PSB should look at how it can support the green energy 
agenda. Denbighshire and its neighbouring counties had potential for hydropower 
schemes therefore that could be something the PSB could be involved with and 

Page 9



encourage. HNWONRW noted the comments made and advised that there may be 
potential in exploring community green energy schemes.  She undertook to raise 
the above matters with the North Wales Energy Group

Members commented on how they felt the PSB could pull together and make things 
happen.  They highlighted that there were plenty of subjects where there were 
issues that would benefit from being addressed jointly.  Officers advised that whilst 
the PSB did not have its own dedicated budget its benefit was around building 
relationships and increasing levels of trust to enable projects to be delivered and in 
doing so maximising the impact and benefits of those projects for all.. 

HNWONRW gave members an overview of an ongoing project with the National 
Trust. The project started 3-4 years ago and it concentrated on the landscapes at 
the top of Conwy Valley, on the Migneint moorland. Conwy County Borough Council 
were involved from a health referral perspective. She commented on the benefits 
gained from working relationships through the PSB to deliver this project and 
deliver health, well-being and environmental benefits. 

Committee members endorsed the three chosen themes to be prioritised by the 
PSB. 

PSBVC praised the progress the PSB had made to date but also highlighted the 
need for further work on particular subjects. 

CPIM advised members that they were in regular contact with the Future 
Generations Commissioner’s office in relation to the plan and its delivery. The 
Wales Audit Office’s (WAO) project brief had been released in relation to the audit 
work on the Plan that would commence during late summer/early autumn 2019. 

Members praised the statistics on animals and the environment as it is an area that 
needs more attention.  They also queried the statistics from the County 
Conversation as the ages and subject had a massive difference between each 
county. 

The SPTM explained that Denbighshire had visited school councils to gain the 
younger persons view, they had also gained a lot of information from focus groups. 
Therefore depending on where Conwy gained their information, there may be a 
difference in age and subject matters.

Resolved: - that the Committee;

(i) receives Conwy and Denbighshire Public Services Board (PSB) Annual 
Report for 2018/19, endorsing the three priority schemes approved by Board 
and the plans in place to deliver them; and 

(ii) supports the progress made to date with their delivery and the proposed 
measures to progress the delivery of the PSB’s Well-being Plan during 
2019/20

Page 10



7 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 

Conwy’s Scrutiny and Committee Services Officer introduced the Committee’s draft 
forward work programme for the 2019/20 (previously circulated).  Members were 
advised that the Committee’s terms of reference stipulated that it should meet at 
least twice in each municipal year.  However the Committee felt it would be 
beneficial if the Committee met on a quarterly basis, as soon as possible following 
meetings of the PSB.  Members were advised that the PSB’s next meeting was 
scheduled for 5 July 2019.  They agreed that the following items be included on the 
Committee’s forward work programme for the forthcoming year.

1. Progress update on the Public Services Board priorities (Agreed for next 
meeting)
2. The Positive Impact of the PSB on Conwy and Denbighshire to date (Agreed for 
next meeting)
3. Contribution of PSB Partners to work of the PSB – Agreed for later meeting 
4. PSB’s Communication Plan/Engagement Strategy – Agreed for later meeting 
5. Risk Register – Agreed for later meeting

Members also agreed to add the Wales Audit Office Report to the forward work 
programme for late 2019/early 2020.  It was:

Resolved: - subject to the above amendments to approve the Committee forward 
work programme for 2019/20

Meeting concluded at 3.30pm

Page 11



Report To: Joint Conwy & Denbighshire Public Services Board (PSB) Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting: 24th January 2020

Lead Member / Officer: Judith Greenhalgh, Chief Executive of Denbighshire County Council and 
PSB Vice Chair 

Report Authors: Nicola Kneale, Denbighshire County Council
Natasha Hughes, Denbighshire County Council

Title: Community Empowerment Update 

1. What is the report about?

1.1 The PSBs Supporting Community Empowerment Priority  

2. What is the reason for making this report?

2.1 To provide the Joint Committee with an overview and progress to date of the Conwy and 
Denbighshire PSB’s Community Empowerment Priority 

2.2 The Joint Conwy and Denbighshire PSB committee have responsibility to scrutinise and review 
the actions taken by the PSB and to make reports or recommendations to the PSB as required.

3. What are the Recommendations?

3.1 To note the progress the PSB has made to date towards the Community Empowerment 
Priority and provide feedback / recommendations to the PSB as necessary.

4. Report details

4.1 Under the Well-being of Future Generations Act the PSB was required to produce an 
assessment of well-being for the region and a well-being plan that set out the Board’s local 
objectives and the steps taken to meet them.  

4.2 Following extensive engagement with stakeholders and using the research gathered through 
the development of the assessment of well-being undertaken for Conwy and Denbighshire, 
the PSB approved three priority areas within their well-being plan in April 2018.  One of which 
focused on supporting community empowerment. 

4.3 The majority of work undertaken to date has been to establish specific areas of work that the 
PSB can add value to. Following extensive engagement, these were agreed and work has now 
begun on progressing the following areas: 

 Social Prescribing – Weight Management 
 Better Supporting those at risk of Homelessness 
 Better Supporting people with Dementia and their carers Page 12

AGENDA ITEM 5a



4.4.1 In relation to the area of work around Social Prescribing, a project proposal was presented to 
the PSB in July with particular focus on weight management. It was suggested that the PSB 
plans its activities in support of Weight Management within the context of the BCUHB Weight 
Management Plan, prioritising particular initiatives according to the need and/or the 
opportunities available across Conwy & Denbighshire.

Following approval of the project proposal, Denbighshire County Council have since led on the 
development, coordination and facilitation of meetings/discussions across Conwy and 
Denbighshire to progress the project. A multi-agency project team has now been established 
in order to offer strategic input and actual delivery of the project. 

4.5 Due to capacity, the work relating to Homelessness Prevention has not yet started.  

4.6 DVSC’s Denbighshire Dementia Aware Community Led Programme is going well. (Quarter 3: October – 
December 2019) is in the process of being collated. 

Headlines 

[The Target is for the 2 year programme of activity (Nov 2018 – March 2020); Actual is from Nov 2018 
– September 2019]

Number of groups engaged in local communities to build capacity and to raise awareness about 
dementia T: 30 A: 66

Briefing about project and activity through other DVSC engagement networks and forums (e.g. 
Wellbeing Network, #DenbighshireVolunteers Network, Membership Forum) T: 6  A: 13

Denbighshire Aware Communities Grant Fund T: £20,000 A: £ 19,958.19

Development of groups working towards becoming Dementia Aware Communities T: 8 A: 5

Number of towns / communities engaged with on a journey towards involvement in or actively working 
towards the Alzheimer Society’s accredited Dementia Friendly Communities programme by the end of 
2020 T: 8 A: 5

Currently DVSC has the following opportunities available to the communities in Denbighshire:

i. A third round of the Denbighshire Dementia Aware Community Led Grant Programme, which is 
currently open and can be accessed from DVSC website:  https://www.dvsc.co.uk/dementia-
aware-community-led-grant Individuals and community groups can apply for funding ranging from 
£250 - £2,000.

ii. A suite of Dementia Training in conjunction with Alzheimer’s Society, including: 

10th March – Step inside Dementia

16th March – Running Great Activities for people with Dementia

24th March – Understanding Dementia and Learning Disabilities 

31st March – Supporting Vulnerable People with Dementia and other Cognitive Disabilities

Page 13

https://www.dvsc.co.uk/dementia-aware-community-led-grant
https://www.dvsc.co.uk/dementia-aware-community-led-grant


The concentration for the final quarter is to signpost/sign up organisations/small businesses to becoming 
Dementia Aware/Friendly Organisations and the delivery of the training above and Dementia E-Learning 
opportunities.

4.7 A full progress update on the delivery plan is provided in appendix 1.  

Page 14



Conwy and Denbighshire 
Public Services Board:

Well-being Delivery Plan 
2018 - 2023

Community – Supporting Community Empowerment
Delivery Plan – 2018 / 19

P
age 15



Priority Year 1 Priorities (2018/19) Impact

Community – 
Supporting 
Community 

Empowerment

 Understand what work is already taking place, and where the PSB 
could add the greatest value in terms of empowering our 
communities.

 Consult with professionals on areas of need and seek to develop the 
PSB’s next steps towards meeting those needs

 Understand what would constitute success, and who should be 
involved in more detailed design and delivery.

 Thriving community groups and assets that meet local needs.
 Services that work together better.
 Services that are better value for money.
 People getting involved and having a say in improving services.

Specific actions in 2018/19 to support year 1 priorities:

1. Developing the Next Steps for Community Empowerment.

2. Social Prescribing will support the well-being needs of individuals and our communities, and will as a result mean fewer medical prescriptions and lower non-medical 
expenditure on services needed due to lifestyle related conditions. People will also be enabled to say in their own homes for longer.

3. Better support tenants and those at risk of homelessness. This will not only result in less homelessness and more stable tenancies, but mitigate health associated risks 
and support a better quality rented sector.

4. Dementia Support Action Plan to better support dementia sufferers and their carers. PSB partners will work towards becoming dementia friendly organisations that help 
people live independently for longer.

RAG action key
Action not progressing / areas of concern have been raised

Action progressing and no concerns raised

Action complete

Achievement Measures 
Describe what will you deliver in 2018/19?

Lead Officer
Baseline Data
(If applicable)

Target date
Achievement Milestones

What will be achieved & what 
difference will be made?

Organisations 
involved

1
Developing the next steps for Community 
Empowerment.

Judith Greenhalgh, 
DCC

n/a
Summer 

2018 To establish specific areas of work. All PSB partners

P
age 16



Achievement Measures 
Describe what will you deliver in 2018/19?

Lead Officer
Baseline Data
(If applicable)

Target date
Achievement Milestones

What will be achieved & what 
difference will be made?

Organisations 
involved

Progress Update – March 2019

A workshop was held on June 27, 2018, attended by some 40 professionals with good representation across partner organisations. In-keeping with the 
PSB’s principle of building on existing pledges from organisations’ well-being plans, delegates were presented with information about existing pledges and 
asked to consider areas of need where collaboration would add value, focussing on the following themes:

i. Housing 
ii. Employment Opportunities 
iii. Capacity Building 
iv. Provision of Health & Well-being Support 
v. Infrastructure

The output of the workshop was considered by the PSB at its meeting in September, agreeing three areas of work for the priority where the PSB felt it 
could add value through early intervention, focusing on the local dimension, and involving a different set of partners. These are detailed below.

Completed

2

Social Prescribing will support the well-being 
needs of individuals and our communities, and 
will as a result mean fewer medical prescriptions 
and lower non-medical expenditure on services 
needed due to lifestyle related conditions. People 
will also be enabled to say in their own homes for 
longer.

Judith Greenhalgh, 
DCC

(supported by CVSC 
& DVSC)

n/a TBC

Fewer medical prescriptions and lower 
non-medical expenditure on services 

needed due to lifestyle related 
conditions.

DCC, CCBC, BCU, 
PHW & NRW

Progress Update –  December 2019  

The second project group meeting was held in November to progress the social prescribing/weight management work with partners from BCUHB, Public 
Health, Natural Resource Wales and both Conwy and Denbighshire Local Authorities.  

BCUHB’s Weight Management Business Case has now been approved and work has begun on developing a Specification for the Commercial Eating 
Programme within the overall project and envisaged to be out for tender early 2020. Following the successful appointment of a provider it is hoped that 
staff will be in post by March 2020. BCUHB have agreed that once this programme of work is fully established, links will be made with partners to support 
the delivery of weight management services across Conwy & Denbighshire. 

In progress

P
age 17



Achievement Measures 
Describe what will you deliver in 2018/19?

Lead Officer
Baseline Data
(If applicable)

Target date
Achievement Milestones

What will be achieved & what 
difference will be made?

Organisations 
involved

Representatives from Conwy & Denbighshire Local Authorities have been in attendance at both meetings to share information and good practice currently 
established within their local areas. It was highlighted that there could be opportunities for Conwy and Denbighshire to collaborate on initiatives in order 
to strengthen the social prescribing offer.   

Further work is also needed on asset mapping across both Counties and collaboration would be beneficial here in order to gain a better understanding of 
what is available for people in the local areas. A further meeting between Conwy and Denbighshire officers will be arranged to explore the opportunities. 

The next full project team meeting will now be held in February 2020 once key actions have been completed. 

The following actions were agreed and are currently in progress: 

1) Natural Resource Wales will liaise with Local 
Authorities to link the signposting/community 
navigator services with the local area 
statements that are currently in development.

Meeting held early January 2020 to explore further. In Progress 

2) All Partners will make arrangements to share 
information on signposting/social prescribing 
services with the aim of collaboration where 
possible.

Conwy & Denbighshire Local Authority Leads to arrange further meeting and feedback to the 
project team in the New Year. In Progress 

3) Partners to share information on where there 
may be barriers or issues encountered in 
relation to signposting/social prescribing 

Project Team tasked with cataloguing a list of barriers or gaps they can identify through their 
working areas and feedback to the project team. 

There was a consensus that transport from rural areas was a key barrier for many and needs 
further consideration. However, the piece of work currently being carried out as part of the PSB 
Support Grant to identify transport needs across North Wales could support this. The outcome 
of this research will be shared with the project team over the coming months. 

Discussions were also held around funding arrangements and the length of time grants and 
funding are given. It was agreed that funding agreements should be no less than 3 years to 
allow for projects/initiatives to be established and evaluated effectively. The project team 
requested that this be fed back at PSB level. 

In Progress

4) Explore Data Performance & Evaluation 
methods 

Denbighshire shared performance data relating to their Talking Points & Navigator Services for 
information. It was agreed that a separate meeting would be arranged to further consider 

In Progress 

P
age 18



Achievement Measures 
Describe what will you deliver in 2018/19?

Lead Officer
Baseline Data
(If applicable)

Target date
Achievement Milestones

What will be achieved & what 
difference will be made?

Organisations 
involved

performance data with a view to exploring consistency in processes across both Counties. 
Health will also provide performance information in relation to the existing weight 
management work streams within health and agreed KPIs within the commercial weight 
provider specification once completed. 

3

Better support tenants and those at risk of 
homelessness. This will not only result in less 
homelessness and more stable tenancies, but 
mitigate health associated risks and support a 
better quality rented sector.

Judith Greenhalgh, 
DCC

(supported by CVSC 
& DVSC)

TBC TBC TBC TBC

Progress Update – March 2019

Due to capacity, this work has not started. Not started

4

Dementia Support Action Plan to better support 
dementia sufferers and their carers. PSB partners 
will work towards becoming dementia friendly 
organisations that help people live independently 
for longer.

Helen Wilkinson,

DVSC
n/a March 

2020

Empower communities to generate and 
transform awareness about dementia 

into community led action.

Public & Third 
Sector, 

Voluntary & 
Community 

groups

Progress Update – July 2019

In progress

Risks to Manage:

This is a complex area of work where we have found that a great deal is already taking place. The challenge remains for the PSB to understand where it can most add value to 
this busy, but important agenda, not only locally, but regionally.

It is also acknowledged that now the plan is in Delivery Phase, it is important to ensure that projects are adequately resourced in order to achieve what is set out in the Plan.  

P
age 19



PROJECT DELIVERY CONFIDENCE SUMMARY

Project Delivery Confidence Assessment:

Green
Successful delivery of the project / programme to time, cost and quality appears highly likely and there are no major outstanding issues that at this stage appear to 
threaten delivery significantly. 

Yellow
Successful delivery appears probable but significant issues already exist requiring management attention. These appear resolvable at this stage and if addressed 
promptly, should not present a cost / schedule overrun. 

Orange
Successful delivery of the project / programme is in doubt with major risks or issues apparent in a number of key areas. Urgent action is needed to ensure these 
are addressed, and whether resolution is feasible. 

Red
Successful delivery of the project / programme appears to be unachievable. There are major issues, which at this stage does not appear to be manageable or 
resolvable. The project / programme may need re-base lining and/or overall viability re-assessed. 

Previous Delivery Confidence Status 

Green 

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS

NEXT REPORTING PERIOD

Please outline any key events or milestones expected for the next reporting period
 The next full project team meeting will be held in February 2020 once key actions from the November meeting have been completed. 
 Asset mapping across both counties (including Health) to gain better understanding of what is available for people in local areas. 
 Specification for Commercial Eating Programme out for tender early 2020

Reasons for current delivery confidence
We are making good progress in relation to the Social Prescribing offer with a focus on supporting BCUHB to deliver their Weight Management Programme. Project Team 
now established and meetings taking place with key partners across Health, Natural Resource Wales and both Conwy & Denbighshire Local Authorities.  

Please outline any key events or milestones for the reporting period
 Second project group meeting held in November to progress the social prescribing/weight management work with partners.
 BCUHBs Weight Management Business Case now approved and work started on the development of a Commercial Eating Programme. 
 Information sharing and good practice identified across counties.  

P
age 20



Report To: Joint Conwy & Denbighshire Public Services Board (PSB) Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting: 24th January 2020

Lead Member / Officer: Sian Williams, Head of North Wales Operations for Natural Resources 
Wales and PSB Chair 

Iwan Davies, Chief Executive for Conwy County Borough Council and PSB 
Vice chair 

Report Authors: Fran Lewis, Conwy County Borough Council
Hannah Edwards, Conwy County Borough Council

Title: Environment Priority Update

1. What is the report about?

1.1 The PSB’s environment resilience priority.

2. What is the reason for making this report?

2.1 To provide the Joint Committee with an overview and progress to date of the Conwy and 
Denbighshire PSB’s environment priority – Place: Supporting Environmental Resilience.

2.2 The Joint Conwy and Denbighshire PSB committee have responsibility to scrutinise and review 
the actions taken by the PSB and to make reports or recommendations to the PSB as required.

3. What are the Recommendations?

3.1 To note the progress the PSB has made to date towards the environment priority and provide 
feedback / recommendations to the PSB as necessary.

4. Report details

4.1 Under the Well-being of Future Generations Act the PSB was required to produce an 
assessment of well-being for the region and a well-being plan that set out the Board’s local 
objectives and the steps taken to meet them.  

4.2 Following extensive engagement with stakeholders and using the research gathered through 
the development of the assessment of well-being undertaken for Conwy and Denbighshire, 
the PSB approved three priority areas within their well-being plan in April 2018.  One of which 
focused on supporting environmental resilience.

4.3 The PSB allocated a lead member organisation (who normally wouldn’t be associated with the 
work) and support organisation for each of the priorities.  This encouraged more questioning 

Page 21

AGENDA ITEM 5b



of the status quo and alternative views on delivery.  For the environmental resilience priority 
Public Health Wales were initially identified as the lead organisation, with Conwy County 
Borough Council providing support.  For year two of the plan (2019-20), this was reviewed and 
Natural Resources Wales are now leading on the priority with Conwy County Borough Council 
still providing support.

4.4 Under this priority PSB members identified areas for further exploration in the short, medium 
and long term.  In order to develop an action plan for this priority a stakeholder workshop was 
held to address the Board short term aspirations.

4.5 As a result of the workshop the following actions were identified –

a. Develop a common environmental policy statement for PSB partners and identify key 
targets.

b. Develop a community green pledge scheme and work with partners to promote and 
encourage participation of the scheme.

c. Identify areas to lobby that are beyond the PSB’s gift to make positive changes.
d. Identify the community benefits from development (e.g. S106 agreements) through 

collaborative discussion.
e. Understand the ‘conflict’ between planning policy and environmental issues through 

collaborative discussion and seek local solutions.

4.6 A progress update on the delivery plan is provided in appendix 1.  

4.7 The majority of work undertaken in year 1 and 2 (so far) has been in action A and B.  A 
working group was established to progress these areas of work.  Representation on the group 
included environmental officers from the majority of PSB partners.  For the pledges working 
group there were also representation from town and community councils.

Community Green Pledges

4.8 The community green pledges considers where the PSB can work with communities to 
encourage them to make small changes to behaviour that will make a big difference to 
reducing environmental impact (please see appendix 2).  We have also developed a hints and 
tips guide for individuals wanting to ‘go green.’  This was approved by the PSB at their July 
meeting.

4.9 The community pledges identifies 5 key areas that communities can make to reduce their 
impact on the environment (including buildings, transport, recycling, shopping and outside 
space).  These areas are also mirrored in the individual guide.  For each area with the 
community pledges, information is provided about why this is important, suggested green 
changes they can make, examples of who is already making the change, some ideas for 
inspiration and where they can go for further funding support and advice.  

Page 22



4.10 There will be an awards process established as part of this scheme.  We will ask communities 
to provide a self-assessment of what environmental changes they have made and award them 
with a ‘Community Green Pledge’ status depending how many changes they’ve made (either 
bronze, silver, gold or platinum).  

4.11 A communication plan is being developed with PSB partners in preparation for the launch of 
the scheme.  We are looking to engage with Town and Community Councils and work with 
other groups and organisations with environmental interests.  The PSB website will be used as 
an online hub to house this information.

4.12 The scheme will be launched at the end of January 2020.

4.13 We have received funding from the North Wales PSB grant to pilot this project (for the 
development and engagement of the scheme), as the intention is for this scheme is to be 
rolled out to other PSB areas in North Wales.

Environmental Policy Statement

4.14 The purpose of the environmental policy statement is to provide a common framework that 
identifies steps that all PSB partners can work towards.  It is recognised that partner 
organisations will be at different stages of achievement at the outset and appreciate the time 
taken to reach different steps will differ between partners.  Please find the position statement 
in appendix 3.

4.15 The policy statement was developed from gathering partners’ environmental policies, as well 
as following an exercise to identify what frameworks / legislation partners currently work 
towards, what they were currently doing under each of the commitments and outputs, and 
their ambition for the future. 

4.16 The framework identifies the environmental ‘commitments’ PSB partners will work towards.  
There are two overarching commitments (carbon and climate change adaptation) supported 
by various outputs.  Each ‘commitment’ outlines the national frameworks, legislation that 
apply to public bodies and outputs that we are proposing all partners commit to follow. It also 
details good practice and outlines the key steps partners will endeavour to implement within 
their own organisations.  

4.17 Draft performance measures have been identified to monitor progress against the 
commitments.  These have been developed following advice from performance officers.  The 
environment working group will reconvene at the end of January 2020 to finalise the draft 
measures prior to approval at the March 2020 PSB meeting.  

4.18 A lead organisation will also be allocated to support the ‘commitment’ and provide guidance 
to other partners in achieving the steps.  

Page 23



Conwy and Denbighshire Public 
Services Board:

Well-being Delivery Plan 2018 - 2023

Place – Supporting Environmental Resilience
Delivery Plan – 2019 / 20

Appendix 1 – Progress Update on Environment Priority for January 2020

P
age 24



WORKING DOCUMENT

Lead PSB Organisation & Member Natural Resources Wales Sian Williams, Head of Operations in North Wales
Support PSB Organisation & Member Conwy County Borough Council Iwan Davies, Chief Executive

Priority Focus Areas Impact

Place - 
Supporting 

Environmental 
Resilience

 Support people and communities to realise how important the natural 
environment is and understand what positive differences they can make 
to reduce their impact on it.   

 Start to address environmental issues such as climate change by 
promoting ways we can all reduce our footprint such as recycling, 
improving energy efficiency, reducing carbon emissions and by generally 
being greener.

 Understand what each of our partner organisations are doing in term of 
addressing their ecological footprint.  Consider what frameworks we are 
working towards and how we can bring this all together.  As part of this 
we want to improve the energy efficiency of our buildings and facilities.

 Focus on sustainable procurement (in particular maximising community 
benefit and making sure we’re not having an adverse impact on the 
environment when we’re buying goods and services).

 Communities that understand and value the importance of the natural 
environment and the essential services it provides for society.

 A natural environment that is being managed in a sustainable way whilst 
wildlife and nature are flourishing.

 A natural environment that is providing the maximum benefits to our 
residents across the social, environmental, economic and cultural 
spectrum.  

 Consistency between partner organisations working to common 
environmental policy, standards and targets.

When will it be completed?
Actions DRAFT Measure of Success Short Term

(1-2 years)
Medium Term

(2-3 years)
Long Term
(4-5 years)

a. Carbon1. Develop a common environmental 
policy statement for PSB partners 
and identify key targets. b. Climate Change

See draft performance measures in position statement. 

Number of groups receiving information about the pledge.

Number of hits to the Community Green Pledges webpage.

Number of communities who have successfully achieved: A) Bronze, b) Silver, C) Gold, 
D) Platinum status.

2. Develop a community green 
pledge scheme and work with 
partners to promote and 
encourage participation of the 
scheme.

Number of case studies produced on what changes communities have made.



3. Identify areas to lobby that are 
beyond the PSB’s gift to make 
positive changes.

To be identified.   

P
age 25



WORKING DOCUMENT

4. Identify the community benefits 
from development (e.g. S106 
agreements) through collaborative 
discussion.

To be identified. 

5. Understand the ‘conflict’ between 
planning policy and environmental 
issues through collaborative 
discussion and seek local solutions.

To be developed through the regional partnership sub groups. 

RAG action key

Action not progressing / areas 
of concern have been raised

Action progressing and no 
concerns raised Action complete

Performance
Action Progress Update – January 2020

1.  Develop a common 
environmental policy 

statement for PSB partners 
and identify key targets.

The environment position statement was recommended for approval at the September 2019 meeting with approval 
confirmed by members at the December 2019 meeting.  

Draft performance measures have been identified to monitor progress against the commitments.  These have been 
developed following advice from performance officers.  The environment working group will reconvene at the end of 
January 2020 to finalise the draft measures prior to approval at the March 2020 PSB meeting. 

As part of this action, the North Wales PSB’s held an environment event in September 2019.  It provided an opportunity 
for environmental officers to network, as well as providing as overview of PSB’s work in this area and discussed how we 
could approach the climate emergency together.  There seemed to be general consensus that a North Wales regional 
approach would be beneficial.  The proposal to establish a regional environment programme Board and set up thematic 
sub-groups have now been supported by the North Wales Regional Leadership Board.  Natural Resources Wales are 
now leading on progressing this work.

In progress

2. Develop a community green 
pledge scheme and work with 

partners to promote and 
encourage participation of the 

scheme.

Following approval of the green pledges in July 2019, officers have been working with the marketing team in Conwy CBC 
(who have been commissioned through the North Wales PSB grant) to develop resources to support the launch and 
engagement of the scheme.  In progress

P
age 26



WORKING DOCUMENT

Action Progress Update – January 2020
Performance

As part of this a toolkit has been developed, which outlines the messages we want to communicate, branding and 
imagery.  A meeting was held in December 2019 with the communications officers from other PSB partners to share this 
work and seek their support in promoting the scheme and engaging with community groups.  We are currently targeting 
groups we can attend to promote scheme, such as T&CCs, community groups (e.g. local friends of the earth & plastic 
free groups). 

The pledges will be formally launched at the end of January 2020.

In the meantime we are using partners own engagement activity as a soft launch for the scheme to inform groups how 
they can get involvement.

3. Identify areas to lobby that 
are beyond the PSB’s gift to 

make positive changes.

A further update on the sea defence in old Colwyn will be presented at a future PSB meeting.  No further areas for 
lobbying have been identified. 

In progress

4. Identify the community 
benefits from development 

(e.g. S106 agreements) 
through collaborative 

discussion.

We are currently responding to the WBFG Commissioner’s audit on procurement and evidencing the benefits of 
procurement – including the environmental benefits.  

Not progressed

5. Understand the ‘conflict’ 
between planning policy and 
environmental issues through 
collaborative discussion and 

seek local solutions.

No further developments have been made on this action in this period.  To be developed through the regional 
partnership sub groups.

However we need to gain a better understanding of the ‘conflict’ that has been raised between planning policy and 
consideration of environmental issues.  This will be looked at in year two of the plan.

In progress

Risks to Manage:

 The risk that regional or all wales organisations will be unable to commit to county or sub-regional arrangements owing to the complexity of meeting differing 
processes.

PROJECT DELIVERY CONFIDENCE SUMMARY

Project Delivery Confidence Assessment:

P
age 27



WORKING DOCUMENT

Green
Successful delivery of the project / programme to time, cost and quality appears highly likely and there are no major outstanding issues that at this stage appear to 
threaten delivery significantly. 

Yellow
Successful delivery appears probable but significant issues already exist requiring management attention. These appear resolvable at this stage and if addressed 
promptly, should not present a cost / schedule overrun. 

Orange
Successful delivery of the project / programme is in doubt with major risks or issues apparent in a number of key areas. Urgent action is needed to ensure these 
are addressed, and whether resolution is feasible. 

Red
Successful delivery of the project / programme appears to be unachievable. There are major issues, which at this stage does not appear to be manageable or 
resolvable. The project / programme may need re-base lining and/or overall viability re-assessed. 

Previous Delivery Confidence Status 

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS

NEXT REPORTING PERIOD
Please outline any key events or milestones expected for the next reporting period

 Launch of the Community Green Pledges scheme.
 Finalise the performance measures for the environmental position statement.

Reasons for current delivery confidence

We are making good progress in delivering on action 1 and 2 of the priority.  However as the work progresses, we need to ensure the PSB members appropriately resource 
the projects.  

Please outline any key events or milestones for the reporting period
 Revising the policy statement document with advice from environmental experts and identifying draft performance measures.
 Organising the NW regional PSB environment networking event.
 Working with the Conwy CBC’s marketing team and PSB partners to develop a communication plan to launch the Community Green Pledges scheme.

P
age 28



Environmental Policy Statement

Conwy & Denbighshire Public Services Board

Introduction 

Our Environmental Policy is focused on Climate Change as the defining issue of our time and the 
greatest threat to our well-being, globally and locally.  We need to take drastic action now to reduce our 
greenhouse gas emissions and to prepare and mitigate for the impacts of global warming, sea level rise 
and extreme weather events.  The Conwy and Denbighshire Public Services Board (PSB) is committed to 
taking action on Climate Change and has made environmental resilience a priority area of the Local 
Well-being Plan for the region.  This Policy considers several aspects of environmental resilience 
including reducing carbon emissions, and working together to mitigate and adapt to Climate Change.

Why this is a priority for us
Climate Change will put pressure on ecosystems, infrastructure and landscape, threaten the well-being 
of both current and future generations and disproportionately affect the most vulnerable communities.  
The public sector needs to take the lead by reducing carbon emissions from its own activities and by 
working together with residents, communities and businesses to play their part in increasing 
environmental resilience to deal with the impacts of Climate Change.

If we focus on this priority now, in the future we could have
 A net zero carbon public sector by 2030

 A developing low carbon economy

 Resilient communities prepared to deal with the impacts of extreme weather events & sea level rise

 A natural environment with healthy biodiversity & habitats which maximises carbon capture

P
age 29

https://conwyanddenbighshirelsb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Conwy-Denbighshire-PSB-Well-being-Plan.pdf
https://conwyanddenbighshirelsb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Conwy-Denbighshire-PSB-Well-being-Plan.pdf


Commitment 1

Commitment 1: Carbon and Energy
Aspire to reduce our carbon and energy usage, so by 2030 we will aim to be a carbon neutral public sector.  

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 set a target of reducing carbon emissions by at least 80% by 2050 (against a 1990 baseline).  However Welsh Government (WG) have since taken 
the Climate Change Committees recommendation to increase this target to 95% by 2050 (against a 1990 baseline).  WG have also set interim emissions targets and the first two 

carbon budgets* to ensure progress is made towards the long-term target.  

Interim Targets: - 2020: 27% reduction    - 2030: 45% reduction - 2050: 95% reduction
Carbon Budgets: - 1 (2016-20): average 23% reduction                - 2 (2021-25): average 33% reduction

*Regulations will be taken to the Welsh Assembly next year (2020) to amend the existing 2050 target to 95%.  WG will also take regulations to set their third carbon budget and 
amend their interim targets and existing budgets, as necessary.  

For the Conwy and Denbighshire PSB purposes, the baseline will be set at 2010/11 levels. 

How will we achieve it? Measuring Success

Output 1.1: Carbon & Energy - Aspire to reduce our carbon and energy usage, so by 2030 we will aim to be a carbon neutral public sector.

1.1.1 Comply with all current energy legislation, seeking to meet or better 
legislative targets. M1.1.1a % of partners who have achieved the first WG interim target for 2020 of a 

27% reduction in carbon emissions (against a 2010/11 baseline)

M1.1.2a

% of partners who have calculated greenhouse gas emissions from -
i. Buildings

ii. Transport
iii. Land Use
iv. Procurement

M1.1.2b % of our sites for which an actual meter reading is obtained v’s estimated 
reading (Electric & Gas)

M1.1.2c % change in energy consumption in our buildings

1.1.2 Measure & monitor our energy usage and carbon emissions and take steps 
to reduce.

M1.1.2d Number of buildings that have a Display Energy Certificate (DEC) below C

1.1.3 Implement alternative or renewable energy technologies, where practical, 
to provide additional sustainable energy for our facilities.

M1.1.3a % of energy generated by renewable sources

P
age 30

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/environment-wales-act-2016-climate-change.pdf
https://gov.wales/wales-accepts-committee-climate-change-95-emissions-reduction-target
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/our-commitment-to-tackling-climate-change-infographic.pdf


How will we achieve it? Measuring Success

M1.1.3b
% of sites (buildings or land) with renewable energy technology in place (e.g. 
PV solar panels, solar thermal system, wind turbines, biomass boilers, 
anaerobic digestion, ground source heat pumps, hydro power etc)

M1.1.4a Number of staff who have successfully completed energy efficiency training 
1.1.4 Develop a low carbon culture within our organisations by creating an 

awareness training package for our staff. M1.1.4b Number of low carbon awareness sessions held

Output 1.2: Waste - A reduction in the amount of waste generated from our activities, so by 2050 there will be zero waste sent to landfill.

1.2.1
Reduce the amount of waste in all our operations and produced from our 
activities – disposing of it through safe and responsible methods (in 
accordance with regulations).

M1.2.1a % of our waste which is prepared for reuse, recycled or composted (not 
including municipal waste)

1.2.2 Improve the recycling facilities available to our staff and customers / clients 
/ patients. M1.2.2a % of buildings with recycling facilities available

1.2.3
Promote recycling and the use of recycled and refurbished products and 
materials where such alternatives are economical and suitable, while 
reducing consumption of materials wherever possible.

M1.2.3a No measure required at this time.

1.2.4 Carry out a waste audit of our organisations. M1.2.4a No measure required at this time.

Output 1.3: Transport - Sustainable travel is supported and active travel is encouraged within our organisations.

M1.3.1a % change in miles travelled of our fleet

M1.3.1b % change in miles travelled of our staff business travel

M1.3.1c % change in carbon emissions from our fleet
1.3.1 Reduce the amount of miles we drive.

M1.3.1d % change in carbon emissions from staff business travel

M1.3.2a % of our fleet which is low carbon emission (including hybrid / electric)
1.3.2 Install electric vehicle charging and explore options for implementing a fleet 

of ultra low emission vehicles (ULEV). M1.3.2b % of our sites which have EV charging facilities

M1.3.3a % of partners who have implemented video and web conferencing facilities 
(e.g. Skype for Business, WebEx, Viber etc)

1.3.3 Invest in technologies that provide alternatives to business travel.
M1.3.3b % of partners using Govroam (secure wireless roaming solution that allows 

staff to work wirelessly from each other’s offices)

P
age 31



How will we achieve it? Measuring Success

1.3.4 Promote car sharing in an effort to minimise carbon emissions. M1.3.4a No measure required at this time.

1.3.5 Offer effective schemes (such as ‘cycle to work’ and public transport 
discounts) to increase sustainable and active travel within our organisations. M1.3.5a No measure required at this time.

Output 1.4: Procurement - A sustainable approach to procurement is supported, leading to a reduction in emissions through our buying of goods, works & services.

M1.4.1a % of partners that have reviewed their procedures
1.4.1 Ensure environmental and social commitments are detailed as conditions in 

contracts and monitor the delivery of these. M1.4.1b % of partners where environment credential are included in the tendering 
process

1.4.2
All plastic products and packaging procured by the public sector to be 
reduced or, if unavoidable, reusable, recyclable and with recycled content 
where technically possible

M1.4.2a No measure required at this time.

1.4.3
Reduce any negative impacts on the environment from the purchasing of 
goods and services and work with suppliers to ensure they have a similar 
commitment.

M1.4.3a No measure required at this time.

1.4.4 Work with local suppliers and farmers to source local, healthy, sustainable 
food delivered to work premises. M1.4.4a No measure required at this time.

Output 1.5: Asset Management - Our buildings are energy efficient as possible.

M1.5.1a % of our buildings with energy efficiency solutions in place (e.g. LED lighting, 
light sensors, roof & cavity wall insulation, energy efficient appliances etc)1.5.1 Undertake improvements to our buildings to reduce our carbon emissions 

and making the best use of energy efficient solutions.
M1.5.2b Partners energy use per meter2 

1.5.1 Reduce the number of building we occupy and making those we keep more 
efficient M1.5.2a No measure required at this time.

1.5.3 Ensure that energy efficiency is included in the design of any building 
improvements or any new developments M1.5.3a No measure required at this time.P

age 32



Commitment 2 – Background Details

Lead Agency

Lead Officer

Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health 
Board

Community & 
Voluntary Support 
Conwy

Conwy County 
Borough Council

Denbighshire County 
Council

Denbighshire 
Voluntary & Support 
Council

National Probation 
Service

Stephen Phillips, 
tbc tbc

Amanda Jones, 
Business Improvement 
Manager

Tom Booty, Energy 
Manager  tbc tbc

North Wales Fire & 
Rescue Service North Wales Police Police & Crime 

Commissioners Office Public Health Wales Police & Crime 
Commissioners Office Welsh Government

Contacts Leads

tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc

Framework all 
organisations will 
commit to implement

Carbon and Energy - Welsh Government’s Prosperity for all: a low carbon Wales. 
Waste - Welsh Governments Towards Zero Waste strategy (statutory targets for waste recycled: 64% by 2020, 70% by 2025 and zero waste to landfill by 
2050).
Transport – Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013
Procurement - Community Benefit Policy for Wales
Asset Management - TBC

Good Practice Natural Resources Wales Carbon Positive Project and the Future Generations Commissioners Decarbonisation priority

Accountability Report on progress against commitment 1 will be provided by the lead organisation on an annual basis to the PSB.

P
age 33

https://gov.wales/prosperity-all-low-carbon-wales
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/towards-zero-waste-our-waste-strategy.pdf
https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-action-plan
https://gov.wales/procurement-community-benefits-policy
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/corporate-information/carbon-positive-project/?lang=en
https://futuregenerations.wales/work/decarbonisation/


Commitment 2

Commitment 2: Climate Change Adaptation
To prepare for the impacts of climate change, including those that we are seeing now, and those we expect to see in the future.

How will we achieve it? Measuring Success

Output 2.1: Biodiversity - Our green spaces, coastal areas and woodlands to encourage resilient and healthy ecosystems.

2.1.1 Prepare and publish a plan in line with the biodiversity duty under section 6 
in the Environment (Wales) act 2016. M2.1.1a % of partners that have produced a section 6 duty biodiversity plan

2.1.2 Assess the impacts that all of our operations, functions and duties (direct 
and indirect) have on biodiversity. M2.1.2a % of partners that have undertaken a biodiversity impact assessment

2.1.3 Become a Bee Friendly organisation. M2.1.3a % of partners that are an accredited Bee Friendly organisation

2.1.4 Apply green infrastructure to make our buildings and assets more wildlife 
friendly. M2.1.4a Number of our sites that are greened to make our buildings and assets more 

wildlife friendly

2.1.5 Conserve and enhance biodiversity and habitats by planting trees and 
nature friendly plants. M2.1.5a % of partners with a planting programme

2.1.6 Reduce our use of pesticides and fertilisers M2.1.6a % of partners who have reduced their use of pesticides and fertilisers

2.1.7 Create or publicise green spaces for staff and public use M2.1.7a No measure required at this time.

Output 2.2: Adverse Weather - The resilience of communities is strengthened to manage the consequences of adverse weather (e.g. flooding, heatwave etc)

2.2.1 Implement flood risk management plans. M2.2.1a % of partners with a flood risk management plan in place 

2.2.2 Raise awareness and engage people in the response to flood and coastal 
erosion risk. M2.2.2a No measure required at this time.

Output 2.3: Planning - The environmental impacts are considered during the planning and development process.  

2.3.1 All of our buildings to meet accredited sustainability standards M2.3.1a % of our buildings that are accredited to sustainability standards (Breeam)

P
age 34



M2.3.1b % of partners that are accredited to a recognised environmental standard 
(e.g. ISO 14001, Green Dragon etc)

2.3.2 Ensure, where practicable, that buildings occupied by us are designed, 
constructed and operated to optimise their environmental performance. M2.3.2a No measure required at this time.

Output 2.4: Water - A sustainable approach to managing our water is supported.  

M2.4.1a % of partners that monitor their water consumption 

M2.4.1b % of sites with water meters 2.4.1 Measure and monitor our water consumption and take steps to reduce.

M2.4.1c % change in water consumption

2.4.2 Install efficient fixtures in buildings to conserve water M2.4.2a % of sites that are fitted with water conservation technology (e.g. shower & 
tap regulators, water saving toilets etc)

2.4.3 Use water efficiently, and sustainably to manage the water environment. M2.4.3a No measure required at this time.

2.4.4 Ensure all landholdings are compliant with environmental legislation, to 
reduce potential for water pollution issues. M2.4.4a No measure required at this time.

Commitment 1 – Background Details

Lead Agency TBC

Lead Officer TBC

Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health 
Board

Community & 
Voluntary Support 
Conwy

Conwy County 
Borough Council

Denbighshire County 
Council

Denbighshire 
Voluntary & Support 
Council

National Probation 
Service

tbc tbc
Amanda Jones, 
Business Improvement 
Manager

tbc  tbc tbc

North Wales Fire & 
Rescue Service North Wales Police Police & Crime 

Commissioners Office Public Health Wales Police & Crime 
Commissioners Office Welsh Government

Contacts Leads

tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc tbc

P
age 35



Framework all 
organisations will 
commit to implement

Climate Change Adaptation - Climate Change Adaption Plan for Wales 
Biodiversity - Environment (Wales) Act 2016 – Section 6: Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty
Adverse Weather - Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Flood and Water Management Act 2010 and Flood Risk Regulations 2009
Planning - Planning (Wales) Act 2015
Water - Water Strategy for Wales

Good Practice Biodiversity - Wales Biodiversity Partnerships Examples of Section Plans and Best Practice
Adverse Weather - Community Engagement Toolkit for flood risk management

Accountability Report on progress against commitment 2 will be provided by the lead organisation on an annual basis to the PSB.

P
age 36

https://gov.wales/prosperity-all-climate-conscious-wales
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/environment-wales-act-2016-biodiversity-resilience-ecosystems.pdf
https://gov.wales/environment-wales-act-2016-factsheets
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-information-for-flood-risk-management-authorities-asset-owners-and-local-authorities
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/water-strategy.pdf
https://biodiversitywales.org.uk/Section-6
https://gov.wales/community-engagement-flood-risk-management


What is this all about ? W h at  a r e  t h e  b e n e f i t s  ?

W h at  a r e  t h e  C o m m u n i t y  g r e e n  p l e d g e s ?

Reduce your environmental impact

Feel good that you're making a
difference

Make new friendsMake where you live / work a better
place

Educate your community

Share good ideas

Make the pledge to make a
difference

The Conwy & Denbighshire Public Services Board have developed the 
Community Green Pledges that identifies 5 Green Pledges that
communities can make to reduce their impact on the environment. 
These have been grouped in to 5 key areas, including -

Local & Ethical
Produce

By reducing our impact on the environment, we can
ensure that future generations have the same
opportunities we have today.  Lifestyles and behaviours
must change in order to achieve this goal.  By signing
up, you will be joining a community united in making a
positive difference for everyone.

The Conwy & Denbighshire PSB's* Community Green
Pledges provides suggestions and guidance for
communities and organisations to make a difference. 
This scheme is open to anyone to join - such as
community groups, sports clubs, villages, towns,
charities and social enterprises.    

C o n w y  &  d e n b i g h s h i r e  p u b l i c  s e r v i c e s  b o a r d

Climate Change is the defining issue of our time and the biggest threat to
our well-being - globally and locally.  We need to take drastic action now to
reduce our greenhouse gas emissions and prepare and mitigate for the
impacts of global warming, sea level rise and extreme weather events.

It’s easy to feel you can’t make a difference to help the
environment – but you can.  Each of us is an important
part of the bigger picture and through our combined
efforts, we can make a difference together!

Community 
Green  Pledges

Community
Buildings & Facilities

Transport Reduce, Reuse &
Recycle

You can also add
your own pledges! 

Environment
& Nature

*Please see page 7 for more information on the Conwy & Denbighshire PSB.

P
age 37



The Community Buildings & Facilities Pledge

Green Changes

Advice & Guidance
Funding & Support

Green Change 1 

Green Change 2   
 
Green Change 3  Improve the energy efficiency

of community buildings (such
as lighting, heating, and water)

Ideas to help you on your way...

Switch to LED light bulbs - this could
reduce your carbon footprint & save £450

a year

Upgrade your windows - this can reduce
the amount of energy lost by 75%

Invest in insulation - this can save up
to 80% in heating and cooling losses

Here are some useful hints and tips to improve
energy efficiency and explore energy generation
ideas...

Centre for Sustainable Energy - Provides various guides
& case studies on improving community buildings and
developing community-wide energy saving projects

National Energy Action - Provides a checklist to assist
communities in making decisions to reduce fuel costs &
improve the environmental performance of community
buildings and facilities.

Here are some possible funding sources & details
where you can access further specialist support - but
remember there are more sources out there too...

Welsh Government Community Facility Programme -
a capital grant scheme for improvements to community 
facilities.

North Wales Energy Advice Centre - a social enterprise that
provides impartial advice on any energy related issues

Who's
already
making
the
change?

Lighting an average office
overnight wastes enough
energy to heat water for

1000 cups of tea

Only 5% of the power drawn by a
phone charger is used to charge

the phone – so remember to
turn it off when you are done

CHARGER

Replace old appliances to energy
eff icient appliances  - this can help

reduce your energy bills in the long term

A 2°c increase in office
temperature creates enough
CO2 in a year to fill a hot air

balloon

Cut out energy wastage (e.g.
turn off lights, appliances,
chargers and close windows)

Use green energy

NEST - Top tips for energy saving

Bro Cernyw
Community Council

installed solar panels on
to their public toilets in

Llangernyw to heat
the water & power the

light and dryers!

Several communities in
North Wales are

investing in hydro
electricity schemes - find

out how Corwen
Abergwyngregyn & Bethesda

made the change!
Energy Saving Trust - Provides lots of information on
renewable energy, insulation & energy saving hints

LEADER - A European funded programme aimed to assist rural
communities across Wales.  Contact either 
or Cadwyn Clwyd in Denbighshire to find out more.

Conwy CynhaliolNational Trust have been
using wool insulation in
some of their buildings

for several years - you can
find out more here 

Gwynt y Môr Community Fund - A fund is available from
Gwynt y Môr Offshore Wind Farm for communities in coastal
areas of Conwy & Denbighshire.North Wales Energy Advice Centre - a social enterprise that

provides impartial advice on any energy related issues

P
age 38

https://www.cse.org.uk/local-energy/resources
http://www.communityplanning.net/pub-film/pdf/EnergyEfficiencyinCommunityBuildings.pdf
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-facilities-programme/?lang=en
http://www.nweeac.org.uk/
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/home-appliances
https://nest.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/top-tips-mar-18-english-5ac6174fd7fef.pdf
https://www.brocernyw.org/gwe/index.php?lng=en&_cmd=editSiteNav&trg=menter
http://corwenelectricity.org.uk/the-scheme/
https://www.abergwyngregyn.org.uk/regeneration/hydro-scheme/
https://www.ogwen.org/en/sustainability/ynni-ogwen/
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/
https://beta.gov.wales/leader
http://cadwynclwyd.co.uk/
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/home/?lang=en
https://nt.global.ssl.fastly.net/documents/energy-report-2010.pdf
https://www.cvsc.org.uk/en/funding/gwynt-y-mor-community-fund
http://www.nweeac.org.uk/


The Transport Pledge

Green Changes

Advice & Guidance

Funding & Support

Green Change 4    

Green Change 5   

Green Change 6More people are
switching to electric cars
- find out how Corwen
has set up an electric 
community carshare

club

Reduce car use

Operate a community
transport scheme

Install electric car / bicycle
charging points

Ideas
Encourage community members to use

public transport & participate in active travel
(where possible) - for example setting up a

walking bus to school

Facilitate a car sharing and / or bicycle
loaning scheme with community

members - why not look into e-bikes too?

Explore the options for installing electric
car charging ports in your community

to help you on your way...

National Assembly for Wales - A guide to Community
Transport in Wales

Here are some useful guides and advice...

Community Transport Association Wales - A toolkit for
setting up a Community Transport service

Energy Savings Trust - A guide to electric vehicles

We are Cycling UK - A guide to public bike share schemes

Living Streets Wales - A guide to running a school route
review

Wales Council for Voluntary Action - Information & links for
sustainable travel

You can find a map of electric
charging points at www.zap-
map.com

Transport is Europe’s
biggest source of carbon
emissions, contributing

27% to the EU’s total CO2
emissions

Two thirds of
employees rely on

the car to get to
work as a driver or

passenger

Who's
already
making
the
change?

LEADER - A European funded programme aimed to assist rural
communities across Wales.  Contact either 
or Cadwyn Clwyd in Denbighshire to find out more.

Conwy Cynhalio

Did you know.. .

You can use www.traveline.cymru
to plan your journey by public
transport

The National Cycle
Network identifies
1,400 miles of safe &
scenic walking and
cycling routes in
Wales

p

There are 38.2
million vehicles

licensed for
use on UK roads

48% of people in the UK use
their car for journeys they
could have completed in a

more sustainable way at
least once a week

Here are some possible funding sources & details
where you can access further specialist support - but
remember there are more sources out there too...

Set up designated car parking spaces in
your local area for people to car share

Communities in rural
Conwy have benefited
from an e-bike scheme

which reduced car
usage & resulted in

positive  health impacts
- find out more here

Community & Voluntary Support Conwy and

Denbighshire Voluntary Services Council - provide advice
on funding support.  

Workplace Charging Scheme - a voucher-based scheme that
provides support towards the up-front costs of the purchase
and installation of electric vehicle chargepoints.

P
age 39

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-46512770
http://www.assembly.wales/research%20documents/16-021%20-%20community%20transport/16-021-web-final-english.pdf
http://www.ageingwellinwales.com/Libraries/Documents/Getting-Started---A-Toolkit-for-Setting-Up-A-Community-Transport-Service.pdf
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/electric-vehicles
https://www.cyclinguk.org/article/guide-hire-bikes-and-public-bike-share-schemes
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/ac/17/07/4d/128645d5bf18f9ad6ac43bd9/published.pdf
https://www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/invest-in-nature-cymru/tackling-climate-change/areas-of-action/sustainable-transport
https://www.zap-map.com/live/
https://beta.gov.wales/leader
http://cadwynclwyd.co.uk/
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/home/?lang=en
https://www.traveline.cymru/
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/about-us/our-work-in-wales/
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/e-bikes/?lang=en
http://cvsc.org.uk/en/fundingfunding/
https://www.dvsc.co.uk/sustainable-and-resilient-third-sec
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/workplace-charging-scheme-application-form


The Reduce, Reuse & Recycle Pledge

Green Changes

Advice & Guidance

Funding & Support

Ideas to help you on your way...

Reuse or sharing schemes can be used for a
variety of things - such as sharing tools and

even using left over paint

Reduce single use plastic in your community -
e.g. work with local shops to sign up to Refill
Wales & become a refill station, investigate

installing water fountains too!

Green Change 7

Green Change 10

Become a plastic-less
or free community

Green Change 8

Green Change 11

Introduce / operate  a
local community repair or
share  scheme

Use local reuse charities and
sign up to local Freecycle
networks

Recycle more in your
community

Surfers Against Sewage - Information to help communities
become plastic free  

Here is some useful guides and advice...

Recycle for Wales - Information & support about recycling
and reuse in communities

1.6 million tonnes of bulky
waste items are thrown

out every year in the UK -
more than half of these
items could be reused

Enough plastic
is thrown away

each year to
circle the Earth

5
times

Recycling 1 glass
bottle saves enough

energy to power a
computer for.. .

30
minutes

£140 million
worth of clothing
goes in to landf ill

each year

Who's
already
making
the
change?

There are a few
communities in
Wales who are

turning the tide on
plastic - click here to

find out more

Brighter Futures Together - Information & ideas 
to encourage recycling in your community

WRAP - Guidance for community recycling collection events

Hold a Repair Cafe - a great way to give a new
lease of life to electricals, upcycling furniture all

while meeting people & learning new skills

Host a jumble sale or shwopping event - helping
to reduce unwanted clothing going to landfill

and Resources  Crest in Conwy 

There are more shops
across North Wales
that are becoming

package free - find your
local shop here

Did you know.. .

Recycling in Denbighshire
provide recycling support

services?

Community & Voluntary Support Conwy and

Denbighshire Voluntary Services Council - provide advice
on funding support.  

Here are some possible funding sources & details where you
can access further specialist support - but remember there are
more sources out there too...

Social Farms & Gardens - Community composting resource
pack

Community composting is a great way to
transform unwanted garden and food waste

into compost that can be used in the
community

Green Change 9 Recycle food related waste

LEADER - A European funded programme aimed to assist rural
communities across Wales.  Contact either 
or Cadwyn Clwyd in Denbighshire to find out more.

Conwy Cynhalio

recycling centres are
available - find out

more here 

To help increase recycling in rural
communities in Conwy,  mobile

P
age 40

https://refill.org.uk/
https://www.sas.org.uk/get-involved/
https://www.sas.org.uk/get-involved/
https://blogs.wwf.org.uk/blog/campaigns/wales/3-welsh-communities-turning-the-tide-on-plastic/
http://www.brighterfuturestogether.co.uk/brighter-futures-together-toolkit/encourage-recycling-in-your-community/
http://www.wrap.org.uk/sustainable-electricals/esap/re-use-and-recycling/guidance-community-waste-electricals-collection-events
https://repaircafe.org/en/about/
https://www.cooptions.co.uk/our-companies/resources-recycling/
https://www.crestcooperative.co.uk/about-us/
https://www.zerowastenear.me/
https://www.cooptions.co.uk/our-companies/resources-recycling/
http://cvsc.org.uk/en/fundingfunding/
https://www.dvsc.co.uk/sustainable-and-resilient-third-sec
https://www.farmgarden.org.uk/resources/community-composting-resource-pack
https://beta.gov.wales/leader
http://cadwynclwyd.co.uk/
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/home/?lang=en
http://www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Recycling-and-Waste/Recycling-banks-and-household-recycling-centres/Mobile-Recycling-Centre.aspx
http://www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Recycling-and-Waste/Recycling-banks-and-household-recycling-centres/Mobile-Recycling-Centre.aspx


Green Changes

Funding & Support

Ideas to help you on your way...

The Local & Ethical Produce Pledge

Green Change 13

Green Change 14  buy & use local seasonal
produce

establish community
allotments or orchards

Share any spare fruit and vegetables
community members might be growing by

having a designated community area for drop
offs & pick ups

National Allotment Society - Provides information on
possible funding sources

Social Farms & Gardens - Provides support on community
growing schemes

Orchard Network - Provides support and information 

Share Waste - Connecting people who wish to recycle their
kitchen scraps with their neighbours

Advice & Guidance

Welsh Government - A guide to community growing projects
and allotments

Here is some useful guidance to community led food growing,
allotments and ways to minimise waste (such as composting
and recycling)...

Wales Council for Voluntary Action - Information
on community gardens projects and allotments

Communities and Local Government - How to guide to
setting up your own community orchard

While only 1% of food is
transported by air, it
accounts for 11% in
carbon emissions

The UK imports about £6.7 
billion worth of meat

products & exports
about £1.8 billion

The UK
produces 60%

of what it needs
to feed itself

95% of our
f ruit

comes
f rom abroad

Who's
already
making
the
change?

when buying produce &
products check your provider
is doing their bit to be green

Buy products from certified schemes, such as
FairTrade,

Welsh Government - Information on community benefit in
procurement activities

Green Change 15  

You can find Welsh food & drink
providers on the Food

innovation Wales website - click
here to find out more

Did you know.. .

You can find where and when
local farmers market are taking

place - click here to find out
more

Here are some possible funding sources & details where you
can access further specialist support - but remember there are
more sources out there too...

Conwy and Denbighshire
support & promote local

producers in the area
through the  

Clywdian Range Food
Trail and the

Conwy Naturiol food brand

There are lots of
community groups

running orchards across
Conwy & Denbighshire -

find out more here

Conwy Council and Denbighshire Council - The local councils
are responsible for the allocation of allotments, visit their
websites to find out more.

Incredible Edible Network - Has lots of ideas, advice and
resources for community groups wanting to start their own
growing projects

Community fridges are a great way for
householders & organisations to share leftover
food locally, helping to build community trust

and engagement, and reduce food waste at the
same time!

Half of our
vegetables

are
imported

FSC certified wood,
MSC certified seafood

Farm Assured Meat

P
age 41

https://www.nsalg.org.uk/allotment-info/funding-advice/
https://www.farmgarden.org.uk/your-area/wales?circle_op=%3C&circle%5bvalue%5d=10&circle%5bunit%5d=miles&circle%5blocation%5d=&render=overlay
https://ptes.org/campaigns/traditional-orchard-project/orchard-network/info-by-region/wales-2/
https://sharewaste.com/
https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-05/allotments-and-community-led-gardening-guidance.pdf
https://www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/invest-in-nature-cymru/ms4n/community-gardens
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11466/1973262.pdf
https://www.fairtrade.org.uk/
http://prp.gov.wales/docs/prp/socialcare/075scstratdeliveringmaximumvalueforthewelshpound.pdf
http://foodinnovation.wales/directory/
https://www.fmiw.co.uk/
http://www.clwydianrangeanddeevalleyaonb.org.uk/clwydian-range-food-trail/
http://conwyforum.co.uk/food/?fbclid=IwAR3PJ900MMev316HnGXd0clE0XnOyYImIHRVqlsP5_Qo1lrbqxv7jEiGdz8
https://ptes.org/campaigns/traditional-orchard-project/orchard-network/community-orchards/
http://www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Leisure-sport-and-health/Allotments/Allotments.aspx
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/community-and-living/allotments.aspx
https://www.incredibleedible.org.uk/what-we-do/
https://www.hubbub.org.uk/the-community-fridge
https://www.fsc-uk.org/en-uk/about-fsc/why-choose-fsc/fsc-for-your-business/why-use-fsc-certified-wood
https://www.msc.org/
https://www.redtractor.org.uk/choose-site


Green Changes

Advice & Guidance
Funding & Support

Ideas to help you on your way...

The Environment & Nature Pledge

Recycle rain waterGreen Change 18 

Green Change 17 

Green Change 16 Manage a community
green space to benef it
wildlife & encourage
biodiversity

Reduce the amount of
pesticides & fertilisers
used in green spaces

cut the grass less - sign up to No Mow
Zone & see what will grow in your
grassland

plant bee friendly plants & sign up to
be a Bee Friendly Community

provide spaces for bird and bat boxes,
as well as mini ponds to encourage
insects

plant trees

invite speakers to inform community
members on environmental matters

Here are some possible funding sources and details where
you can access further specialist support...

Here is some useful guidance to improve & manage green
spaces for the benefit of the community & wildlife...

Keep Wales Tidy - Their Tidy Towns initiative helps
communities take charge of their environmentWales Council for Voluntary Action - Provides information on

the benefits of green spacesand a guide to Investing in Nature.

RSPB - Information on pesticides and wildlife

Lottery Community Fund - Grants available to support
communities in improving the spaces that matter to them

Llais y Goedwig - Information on community woodlands

Community Land Advisory Service in Wales - supports
communities to improve green spaces in their local area

Friends of the Earth - Provides information & support in
becoming Bee Friendly

It would cost UK
farmers £1.8 billion a

year to pollinate
crops without bees

Who's
already
making
the
change?

Groundforce - Supports communities to access potential
funding to develop community green spaces

There is a Green Flag
Awards scheme in Wales

especially for communities? 
Find out more here 

Organise community
clean up and litter
picking days

Green Change 19 

Did you know.. .

40% of the world’s insect
species is expected to
become extinct by the

end of the century

Volunteer with local wildlife groups

North Wales Wildlife Trust - Provides lots of 'How to' guides to
make spaces more wildlife friendly. 

Farmers & landowners in
Conwy have been working
with Conwy Cynhaliol to

responsibly dispose of
unwanted chemicals

There are lots of good
community green

spaces projects happening
across Conwy and

Denbighshire - such as
major tree planting taking place in
Denbighshire which will plant over

18,000 trees in the next 5 years! 

1 in 14 species in
Wales is at risk
of disappearing

altogether

Wales Biodiversity Partnership - provides information on
pollinators

P
age 42

https://www.plantlife.org.uk/uk/discover-wild-plants-nature/children-families/say-no-to-the-mow
https://act.friendsoftheearth.uk/act/be-bee-friendly-carwch-wenyn
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/tidy-towns
https://www.wcva.org.uk/about-us/news/2018/06/why-green-spaces-matter-to-your-community
https://www.wcva.org.uk/media/5983258/investing_in_nature_guide.pdf
https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/our-positions-and-casework/our-positions/agriculture-and-land-use/farming-land-use-and-nature/pesticides-and-fertilisers/wildlife/
https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/wales#section-1
http://llaisygoedwig.org.uk/about-community-woodlands/what-is-a-community-woodland/
https://wl.communitylandadvice.org.uk/
https://www.foe.cymru/bee-friendly-wales
https://www.groundworknorthwales.org.uk/latest/projects/tesco-bags-of-help-grant-programme/
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/Pages/Category/greenflag
https://www.northwaleswildlifetrust.org.uk/actions
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/free-pesticide-disposal-alwen-catchment/?lang=en
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/news/tree-planting-events-in-rhyl-help-enhance-the-environment.aspx
https://www.biodiversitywales.org.uk/Wales-Action-Plan-for-Pollinators


www.co nwya n d d e n b i g h s h i re p s b .o rg .u k

Did you know that some of these activities could help a young person get a Blue Peter
green badge or go towards other schemes such as Brownie/ girl guides/ cubs/ scouts

badges? It may also class a volunteer credits depending on what scheme a child is
following...

Get the kids involved!

Click here for more information on Blue
Peter green badges

Click here for more information on
plastic f ree challenge badges&

Let us know what you are achieving & we'll award
you...

Conwy & Denbighshire 
Public Services Board

Silver Community Green
Pledge Status

For 5 - 8 green changes
Bronze Community Green

Pledge Status
For 1 - 4 green changes

Gold Community Green
Pledge Status

For 9 - 12 green changes

Platinium Community
Green Pledge Status
For 13 or more green 

changes

Signing up is easy...

@

Choose the
green changes you

want to work
towards  

Add your own
green changes if
you think we've

missed something

Complete the self-
assessment pledge
form to let us know

what you've been up
to (you can download it

here)

Put your plan into
action

We'll send you a
Pledge certificate for

you to display

Keep in contact - let
us know how you're

doing so we can
share your good

work!

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.

The PSB is a collection of public bodies
working together to improve the well-

being of Conwy & Denbighshire.
To f ind out more visit -

www.conwyanddenbighshirepsb.org.uk

www.conwyanddenbighshirepsb.org.uk

P
age 43

https://conwyanddenbighshirelsb.org.uk/en/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/cbbc/watch/bp-how-to-get-a-green-badge
http://www.plasticfreeplanetuk.co.uk/challenge-badges/
https://conwyanddenbighshirepsb.org.uk/about-us/
https://conwyanddenbighshirepsb.org.uk/


Glossary of Web Links

www.canolfan-ni.org/community-car-club

www.ruralconwy.org.uk/e-bikes/?lang=en

www.zap-map.com/live

www.traveline.cymru

The Transport Pledge

www.sustrans.org.uk/wales/national-cycle-network

www.assembly.wales/research%20documents/16-021%20-%20community%20transport/16-021-web-final-english.pdf

www.ageingwellinwales.com/Libraries/Documents/Getting-Started---A-Toolkit-for-Setting-Up-A-Community-Transport-Service.pdf

www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/invest-in-nature-cymru/tackling-climate-change/areas-of-action/sustainable-transport

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/ac/17/07/4d/128645d5bf18f9ad6ac43bd9/published.pdf

The Community  Bui ld ings  &  Faci l i t ies  P ledge
www.brocernyw.org/gwe/index.php?lng=en&_cmd=editSiteNav&trg=menter

www.anafonhydro.co.uk

www.corwenelectricity.org.uk/the-scheme

www.energylocal.co.uk/cyd-ynni

https://nt.global.ssl.fastly.net/documents/energy-report-2010.pdf

www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/home-appliances

www.nest.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/top-tips-mar-18-english-5ac6174fd7fef.pdf

www.energysavingtrust.org.uk

www.communityplanning.net/pub-film/pdf/EnergyEfficiencyinCommunityBuildings.pdf

www.cse.org.uk/local-energy/resources

www.nweeac.org.uk

www.beta.gov.wales/leader

www.ruralconwy.org.uk/home

www.cadwynclwyd.co.uk

www.gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-facilities-programme

www.cvsc.org.uk/en/gwynt-y-mor

P
age 44

https://www.canolfan-ni.org/community-car-club
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/e-bikes/?lang=en
https://www.zap-map.com/live/
https://www.traveline.cymru/
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/wales/national-cycle-network
http://www.assembly.wales/research%20documents/16-021%20-%20community%20transport/16-021-web-final-english.pdf
http://www.ageingwellinwales.com/Libraries/Documents/Getting-Started---A-Toolkit-for-Setting-Up-A-Community-Transport-Service.pdf
https://www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/invest-in-nature-cymru/tackling-climate-change/areas-of-action/sustainable-transport
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/hwb-live-storage/ac/17/07/4d/128645d5bf18f9ad6ac43bd9/published.pdf
http://www.brocernyw.org/gwe/index.php?lng=en&_cmd=editSiteNav&trg=menter
http://www.anafonhydro.co.uk/
http://www.corwenelectricity.org.uk/the-scheme
http://www.energylocal.co.uk/cyd-ynni
https://nt.global.ssl.fastly.net/documents/energy-report-2010.pdf
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/home-appliances
http://www.nest.gov.wales/workspace/uploads/files/top-tips-mar-18-english-5ac6174fd7fef.pdf
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/
http://www.communityplanning.net/pub-film/pdf/EnergyEfficiencyinCommunityBuildings.pdf
http://www.cse.org.uk/local-energy/resources
http://www.nweeac.org.uk/
http://www.beta.gov.wales/leader
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/home/?lang=en
http://www.cadwynclwyd.co.uk/
https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-facilities-programme/?lang=en
http://www.cvsc.org.uk/en/gwynt-y-mor


www.cyclinguk.org/article/guide-hire-bikes-and-public-bike-share-schemes

www.sustrans.org.uk/services

https://beta.gov.wales/leader

http://cadwynclwyd.co.uk/

http://ruralconwy.org.uk/home/?lang=en

http://cvsc.org.uk/en/fundingfunding/

www.dvsc.co.uk/sustainable-and-resilient-third-sec

www.gov.uk/government/publications/workplace-charging-scheme-application-form

The Reduce, Reuse & Recycle Pledge
https://blogs.wwf.org.uk/blog/campaigns/wales/3-welsh-communities-turning-the-tide-on-plastic/

www.cooptions.co.uk/our-companies/resources-recycling/

www.crestcooperative.co.uk/about-us/

https://naturaler.co.uk/no-packaging-grocery-stores-uk/

www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Recycling-and-Waste/Recycling-banks-and-household-recycling-centres/Mobile-Recycling-Centre.aspx

www.sas.org.uk/get-involved/

www.recycleforwales.org.uk/re-use/reuse-more/your-community

www.brighterfuturestogether.co.uk/brighter-futures-together-toolkit/encourage-recycling-in-your-community/

www.wrap.org.uk/sustainable-electricals/esap/re-use-and-recycling/guidance-community-waste-electricals-collection-events

www.farmgarden.org.uk/resources/community-composting-resource-pack

https://refill.org.uk/

https://repaircafe.org/en/about/

The Local and Ethical Pledge

http://foodinnovation.wales/directory/

https://www.fmiw.co.uk/

http://www.clwydianrangeanddeevalleyaonb.org.uk/clwydian-range-food-trail/

http://conwyforum.co.uk/food/?fbclid=IwAR3PJ900MMev316HnGXd0clE0XnOyYImIHRVqlsP5_Qo1lrbqxv7jEiGdz8

https://ptes.org/campaigns/traditional-orchard-project/orchard-network/community-orchards/

P
age 45

https://www.cyclinguk.org/article/guide-hire-bikes-and-public-bike-share-schemes
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/services
https://beta.gov.wales/leader
http://cadwynclwyd.co.uk/
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/home/?lang=en
http://cvsc.org.uk/en/fundingfunding/
https://www.dvsc.co.uk/sustainable-and-resilient-third-sec
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/workplace-charging-scheme-application-form
https://blogs.wwf.org.uk/blog/campaigns/wales/3-welsh-communities-turning-the-tide-on-plastic/
https://www.cooptions.co.uk/our-companies/resources-recycling/
https://www.crestcooperative.co.uk/about-us/
https://naturaler.co.uk/no-packaging-grocery-stores-uk/
http://www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Recycling-and-Waste/Recycling-banks-and-household-recycling-centres/Mobile-Recycling-Centre.aspx
https://www.sas.org.uk/get-involved/
https://www.recycleforwales.org.uk/re-use/reuse-more/your-community
http://www.brighterfuturestogether.co.uk/brighter-futures-together-toolkit/encourage-recycling-in-your-community/
http://www.wrap.org.uk/sustainable-electricals/esap/re-use-and-recycling/guidance-community-waste-electricals-collection-events
https://www.farmgarden.org.uk/resources/community-composting-resource-pack
https://refill.org.uk/
https://repaircafe.org/en/about/
http://foodinnovation.wales/directory/
https://www.fmiw.co.uk/
http://www.clwydianrangeanddeevalleyaonb.org.uk/clwydian-range-food-trail/
http://conwyforum.co.uk/food/?fbclid=IwAR3PJ900MMev316HnGXd0clE0XnOyYImIHRVqlsP5_Qo1lrbqxv7jEiGdz8
https://ptes.org/campaigns/traditional-orchard-project/orchard-network/community-orchards/


https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-05/allotments-and-community-led-gardening-guidance.pdf

https://www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/invest-in-nature-cymru/ms4n/community-gardens

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11466/1973262.pdf

http://prp.gov.wales/docs/prp/socialcare/075scstratdeliveringmaximumvalueforthewelshpound.pdf

http://www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Leisure-sport-and-health/Allotments/Allotments.aspx

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/community-and-living/allotments.aspx

https://www.incredibleedible.org.uk/what-we-do/

https://www.nsalg.org.uk/allotment-info/funding-advice/

https://www.farmgarden.org.uk/your-area/wales?circle_op=%3C&circle%5bvalue%5d=10&circle%5bunit%5d=miles&circle%5blocation%5d=&render=overlay

https://sharewaste.com/

https://www.hubbub.org.uk/the-community-fridge

https://ptes.org/campaigns/traditional-orchard-project/orchard-network/info-by-region/wales-2/

www.keepwalestidy.cymru/Pages/Category/greenflag

http://ruralconwy.org.uk/free-pesticide-disposal-alwen-catchment/?lang=en

www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/news/tree-planting-events-in-rhyl-help-enhance-the-environment.aspx

The Environment Pledge

www.wcva.org.uk/about-us/news/2018/06/why-green-spaces-matter-to-your-community

www.wcva.org.uk/media/5983258/investing_in_nature_guide.pdf

www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/our-positions-and-casework/our-positions/agriculture-and-land-use/farming-land-use-and-nature/pesticides-and-fertilisers/wildlife/

http://llaisygoedwig.org.uk/about-community-woodlands/what-is-a-community-woodland/

https://wl.communitylandadvice.org.uk/

www.northwaleswildlifetrust.org.uk/actions

http://greenspacewales.org.uk/links/

www.keepwalestidy.cymru/tidy-towns

www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/funding/programmes/people-and-places-medium-grants#section-1

www.foe.cymru/bee-friendly-wales

www.groundworknorthwales.org.uk/latest/projects/tesco-bags-of-help-grant-programme/

P
age 46

https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-05/allotments-and-community-led-gardening-guidance.pdf
https://www.wcva.org.uk/what-we-do/invest-in-nature-cymru/ms4n/community-gardens
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11466/1973262.pdf
http://prp.gov.wales/docs/prp/socialcare/075scstratdeliveringmaximumvalueforthewelshpound.pdf
http://www.conwy.gov.uk/en/Resident/Leisure-sport-and-health/Allotments/Allotments.aspx
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/community-and-living/allotments.aspx
https://www.incredibleedible.org.uk/what-we-do/
https://www.nsalg.org.uk/allotment-info/funding-advice/
https://www.farmgarden.org.uk/your-area/wales?circle_op=%3C&circle%5bvalue%5d=10&circle%5bunit%5d=miles&circle%5blocation%5d=&render=overlay
https://sharewaste.com/
https://www.hubbub.org.uk/the-community-fridge
https://ptes.org/campaigns/traditional-orchard-project/orchard-network/info-by-region/wales-2/
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/Pages/Category/greenflag
http://ruralconwy.org.uk/free-pesticide-disposal-alwen-catchment/?lang=en
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/news/tree-planting-events-in-rhyl-help-enhance-the-environment.aspx
https://www.wcva.org.uk/about-us/news/2018/06/why-green-spaces-matter-to-your-community
https://www.wcva.org.uk/media/5983258/investing_in_nature_guide.pdf
https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/our-positions-and-casework/our-positions/agriculture-and-land-use/farming-land-use-and-nature/pesticides-and-fertilisers/wildlife/
http://llaisygoedwig.org.uk/about-community-woodlands/what-is-a-community-woodland/
https://wl.communitylandadvice.org.uk/
https://www.northwaleswildlifetrust.org.uk/actions
http://greenspacewales.org.uk/links/
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/tidy-towns
https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/funding/programmes/people-and-places-medium-grants#section-1
https://www.foe.cymru/bee-friendly-wales
https://www.groundworknorthwales.org.uk/latest/projects/tesco-bags-of-help-grant-programme/


- 1 -

Conwy & Denbighshire PSB – Draft Action Plan responding to 
Review of Public Services Boards

Recommendations Agreed Responsibility Action(s) to be taken Implementation Date

R1a.  We recommend that PSBs conduct 
formal assessments to identify the 
potential impact on people with 
protected characteristics and the Welsh 
language and review agreed actions to 
ensure any adverse impacts are 
addressed;

The Board have completed 
an impact assessment as part 
of the development of the 
well-being plan (this was 
undertaken by Denbighshire 
Council on behalf of the 
Board).  It outlines the 
impacts against the national 
well-being goals (including 
equality and Welsh 
language).

Conwy and Denbighshire 
PSB.

Undertake a light touch 
review of the equality impact 
assessment.

A review of the findings is 
tabled for the March 2020 

PSB meeting.

R1b. We recommend that PSBs improve 
transparency and accountability by 
making PSB meetings, agendas, papers 
and minutes accessible and available to 
the public;

The Conwy and Denbighshire 
PSB meetings have been 
open to the public to observe 
since December 2017 (with 
the Board decision made in 
September 2017).  

Meeting minutes have been 
available on the PSB website 
since the establishment of 
the PSB (in April 2016).  PSB 
agendas have been published 
prior to the meeting since 
June 2017 (they are available 
on the PSB’s website as well 
as the each LAs committee 
pages).  

Conwy and Denbighshire 
PSB.

a. Continue to publicise the 
meetings. 

b. Continue to ensure the 
agenda and minutes are 
available on the PSB 
website.

Completed.

R1c. We recommend that PSB’s 
strengthen involvement by working to 

The Board have outlined 
their engagement 

Conwy and Denbighshire 
PSB.

a. The Board to formally 
endorse the National 

January/February 2020.

P
age 47

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 7

https://conwyanddenbighshirepsb.org.uk/agendasandminutes/
https://conwyanddenbighshirepsb.org.uk/agendasandminutes/


- 2 -

Recommendations Agreed Responsibility Action(s) to be taken Implementation Date

the guidance in the National Principles for 
Public Engagement in Wales;

commitment within their 
Terms of Reference.  

Most Members have 
endorsed the National 
Principles for Public 
Engagement (however as 
individual organisations 
rather than a Board).  The 
engagement work which has 
been undertaken to date has 
followed the principles.

Principles for Public 
Engagement.

b. Publish the PSB ToR on 
the website.

R1d.  We recommend that PSBs feedback 
the outcome of involvement activity 
identifying where changes are made as a 
result of the input of citizens and 
stakeholders.

The Board provide feedback 
following any involvement 
activity undertaken.  The 
Board have also developed a 
communication plan which 
outlines the PSBs 
communication and 
engagement objectives.  

Conwy and Denbighshire 
PSB.

Continue to update and 
review the communication 
plan as necessary.

Ongoing.

R2.  To improve scrutiny we recommend 
that PSBs and public bodies use the 
findings of the Auditor General for Wales’ 
Discussion Paper: Six themes to help 
make scrutiny ‘Fit for the Future’ to 
review their current performance and 
identify where they need to strengthen 
oversight arrangements and activity

A joint Conwy and 
Denbighshire PSB scrutiny 
committee was established 
in May 2019.  It comprises of 
8 elected members from 
both Conwy and 
Denbighshire (with cross-
party representation).  

Training was undertaken 
before the establishment of 
the committee to prepare 
Members for the role.  The 

Conwy and Denbighshire PSB 
scrutiny committee.  

Propose to the PSB scrutiny 
committee that they 
consider the discussion paper 
& use it as part of any future 
training (if not done so 
already).

January/February 2020.P
age 48



- 3 -

Recommendations Agreed Responsibility Action(s) to be taken Implementation Date

WAO discussion paper has 
been shared with the 
committee.  

Recommendations / 
feedback from the 
committee is taken to the 
PSB for consideration.  
Processes will be 
strengthened as scrutiny 
becomes more established.

PSB scrutiny committee 
members also attend the 
Board (as observers) to 
better understand the 
decisions of the Board as part 
of their role.

2b. We recommend that PSBs ensure 
scrutiny committees have adequate 
engagement with a wider range of 
relevant stakeholders who can help hold 
PSBs to account.

It is the joint PSB’s scrutiny 
decision as to who they want 
to engage with and invite to 
participate on the 
committee.  The PSB can only 
make proposals.

The Joint Scrutiny has 
discussed co-option at its 
first training event, where it 
was agreed this would be 
reviewed once the Joint 
Scrutiny Committee was 
more established and 
perhaps call on ‘expert 
witnesses’ if required.

Conwy and Denbighshire PSB 
scrutiny committee.  

Propose to the PSB scrutiny 
committee that they 
consider inviting co-optees 
onto the committee in 
future.

January/February 2020.

P
age 49



- 4 -

Recommendations Agreed Responsibility Action(s) to be taken Implementation Date

There are also existing 
mechanisms in both councils 
which encourage public 
engagement, such as e-
petitions, webcasting, tabling 
a question, public meetings 
etc.

3a. To help build capacity, consistency 
and resourcing of activity we recommend 
that: PSBs take the opportunity to 
discharge other plan and strategy 
obligations through the Local Wellbeing 
Plan;

The PSB well-being plan was 
developed following 
extensive engagement with 
both professionals and the 
wider public. 

At present the Board have no 
intention of revising their 
priorities to discharge other 
plan and strategy obligations 
through the Local Well-being 
Plan.

Conwy and Denbighshire 
PSB.

To consider this 
recommendation when 

developing the next PSB well-
being plan in 2023 (which will 

be published in 2024).

January 2023

3b.  To help build capacity, consistency 
and resourcing of activity we recommend 
that the Welsh Government enables PSBs 
to develop flexible models of working 
including: ‒ merging, reducing and 
integrating their work with other forums 
such as Regional Partnership Boards; and 
‒ giving PSBs flexibility to receive, 
manage and spend grant monies subject 
to PSBs ensuring they have adequate 
safeguards and appropriate systems in 
place for management of funding; 
effective budget and grant programme 
controls; and public reporting, scrutiny 

 Welsh Government to 
respondP

age 50



- 5 -

Recommendations Agreed Responsibility Action(s) to be taken Implementation Date

and oversight systems to manage 
expenditure
R4.  To help build capacity, consistency 
and resourcing of activity we recommend 
that the WG and WLGA in their review of 
Strategic Partnerships take account of 
and explore the findings of this review 

Welsh Government and 
WLGA to respond

P
age 51



Review of Public Services Boards 1

Review of Public Services 
Boards  

October 2019

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Page 52



Review of Public Services Boards2

The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines 
and certifies the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, 
including NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, 
their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit 
Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor 
General. 

© Auditor General for Wales 2019

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. If 
you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The material 
must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the title of this 
publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. We 
welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or English 
and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

This report has been prepared for presentation to the National 
Assembly under the Government of Wales Act 2006 and the 

Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 

The Wales Audit Office study team was project managed by Nick 
Selwyn and comprised Steve Frank, Euros Lake, Matt Brushett, 
Mary Owen and Sara Leahy under the direction of Huw Rees.

Adrian Crompton
Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Page 53



Review of Public Services Boards 3

Contents

 Summary report 5

Public Services Boards are unlikely to realise their potential unless  
they are given freedom to work more flexibly and think and act  
differently 5

Recommendations 11

1 Public bodies have not always taken the opportunity to effectively  
organise and resource the work of PSBs 13

PSBs are building on the work of Local Service Boards and  
generally have the right membership, but attendance at meetings 
fluctuates and some key stakeholders are not always involved 14

PSBs are engaging with citizens, but are not involving them in their  
work 17

Most PSBs have adopted the Terms of Reference set out in the Act 19

PSB agendas vary widely and Welsh Government guidance on  
impact assessments is not sufficiently clear to direct activity in key  
areas 20

PSBs have mixed views on the benefits of the advice they receive  
from the Future Generations Commissioner 22

The lack of dedicated funding limits the work and impact of PSBs 23

2 Public Services Boards are not consistently being scrutinised or  
held to account 26

Page 54



Review of Public Services Boards4

3 Despite public bodies valuing PSBs, there is no agreement on  
how their role should evolve 30

Partners support the continuation of PSBs, but they have mixed  
views on what their future role should be 31

PSBs are broadly similar to Community Planning Partnerships in  
Scotland, but partners in Scotland also deliver projects and  
co-ordinate funding programmes 35

Strategic partnership work in England is left to each council to  
determine and this has resulted in very different approaches 37

 Appendices

Appendix 1 – review methodology 40

Page 55



Review of Public Services Boards 5

Summary report

Public Services Boards are unlikely to realise their 
potential unless they are given freedom to work more 
flexibly and think and act differently
1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the ‘Act’) sets 

out the Welsh Government’s ambitions to improve the social, cultural, 
environmental and economic wellbeing of Wales. The Act requires public 
bodies in Wales to think about the long-term impact of their decisions, to 
work better with people, communities and each other, and to help prevent 
problems such as poverty, health inequalities and climate change.

2 The Act establishes statutory Public Services Boards (PSBs) which 
have replaced the voluntary Local Service Boards in each local authority 
area. Each board is required to assess the state of economic, social, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing in its area and set objectives that are 
designed to maximise its contribution to the national wellbeing goals.

3 The Statutory Members of each PSB are the local council, the local health 
board, the fire and rescue authority and Natural Resources Wales. In 
addition to these statutory members, each PSB will invite the following 
to participate: Welsh Ministers, chief constables, the police and crime 
commissioner for their area, certain probation services, national park 
authority (if applicable), and at least one body representing relevant 
local voluntary organisations. PSBs can also invite other public service 
organisations to participate, for example, education providers such as 
colleges and universities and housing associations, and private bodies 
such as business forums.  

4 PSBs are promoted by the Welsh Government as the key body collectively 
responsible for improving the wellbeing of communities across Wales and 
currently there are 19 PSBs – Exhibit 1.

5 The Act requires each PSB to undertake a local wellbeing assessment 
every five years. PSBs are also required to prepare and publish a plan 
(the ‘local wellbeing plan’) setting out their objectives and the steps they 
will take to meet them. The plan must set out why the PSB feels their 
objectives will contribute, within their local area, to achieving the national 
wellbeing goals and how it has taken regard of their assessment of local 
wellbeing in setting its objectives and steps to take. All PSBs completed 
wellbeing assessments and published Local Wellbeing Plans in line with 
the statutory deadlines.

Page 56



 Review of Public Services Boards6

Exhibit 1 – PSBs in Wales
There are 19 PSBs: one in each local authority except for a Cwm Taf PSB which 
covers Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf (set up before Bridgend was 
realigned with the Cwm Taf footprint), a combined PSB for Gwynedd and Isle of 
Anglesey and a joint PSB for Conwy and Denbighshire.

9

1314
12

12

10

8

15

5

17

18

19

4

4 

3 
3

11

16

7
2

16

1 Carmarthenshire
2 Ceredigion
3 Conwy and Denbighshire
4 Gwynedd and Isle of Anglesey
5 Monmouthshire
6 Pembrokeshire
7 Powys
8 Blaenau Gwent
9 Bridgend
10 Caerphilly
11 Flintshire 
12 Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf
13 Neath Port Talbot
14 Swansea
15 Torfaen
16 Wrexham
17 Vale of Glamorgan
18 Cardiff
19 Newport

Public Service Boards

Page 57



Review of Public Services Boards 7

6 When producing their assessments of local wellbeing and Local Wellbeing 
Plan, PSBs must consult widely. The PSB should seek to involve the 
people and communities in the area, including children and young people, 
Welsh speakers and those with protected characteristics, in all aspects 
of its work. Each PSB will carry out an annual review of its plan showing 
its progress. Currently there are 101 wellbeing objectives set across the 
19 PSBs, ranging from two in Gwynedd and Isle of Anglesey to 15 in 
Wrexham. There are also 462 underlying supporting steps and actions to 
deliver the 101 wellbeing objectives. The 101 wellbeing objectives ‘best fit’ 
with seven national wellbeing goals are as follows:

Source: Wales Audit Office

Image source: Office of Future Generations Commissioner for Wales

A globally responsible Wales – 12 wellbeing objectives

A prosperous Wales – 12 wellbeing objectives

A resilient Wales – six wellbeing objectives

A healthier Wales – 25 wellbeing objectives

A more equal Wales – 12 wellbeing objectives

A Wales of cohesive communities – 25 wellbeing objectives

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language – four 
wellbeing objectives

Others – five wellbeing objectives (all focussed on ‘transformation’ of 
public services)

Page 58



Review of Public Services Boards8

7 The Act also created a Future Generations Commissioner for Wales (the 
‘Commissioner’). The general duties of the Commissioner are to ‘promote 
the sustainable development principle, in particular to act as a guardian 
of the ability of future generations to meet their needs and encourage 
public bodies to take greater account of the long-term impact of the things 
they do’. Specifically, the Commissioner is charged with monitoring and 
assessing the extent to which wellbeing objectives set by public bodies are 
being met1.

8  On behalf of the Auditor General for Wales, we have examined how PSBs 
are operating; looking at their membership, terms of reference, frequency 
and focus of meetings, alignment with other partnerships, resources 
and scrutiny arrangements. This is a phase one review on partnership 
working which will be followed up by a further report in 20202. We have not 
reviewed wellbeing plans and assessments. Appendix 1 sets out our audit 
methods, which included a survey of PSB members, a review of statutory 
guidance, PSB agendas, reports and minutes and interviews and focus 
groups with a range of PSB members and commentators. Our findings are 
also intended to help support the Welsh Government’s and Welsh Local 
Government Association’s current review of strategic partnerships. Overall, 
we have concluded that Public Services Boards are unlikely to realise 
their potential unless they are given freedom to work more flexibly 
and think and act differently.

1 In 2017, the Commissioner provided each of the 19 PSBs with individual feedback on their 
draft wellbeing assessments. The Commissioner also published Wellbeing in Wales: 
Planning today for a better tomorrow, a review summarising key issues for public bodies 
to learn from the initial 2017 wellbeing assessments.

2 The Phase Two review will look at the complexity of partnership delivery looking at a 
distinct group in society with multifaceted problems/needs who call on and access a range 
of different public bodies at different times to ascertain how organisations are working 
differently to address these needs. Our tracer is rough sleepers, a group in society with often 
intractable problems, who regularly call on and frequently use a wide range of public services 
and are challenging to provide services for because of their vulnerability, circumstances 
and lifestyle. This analysis will focus on determining if partners are genuinely working jointly 
to deliver improvement and whether public bodies are collectively taking decisions, using 
resources and prioritising activity to actually deliver change. Page 59

https://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=2400
https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/FGCW_Well-being_in_Wales-Planning_today_for_a_better_tomorrow_2017FINALENG.pdf
https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/FGCW_Well-being_in_Wales-Planning_today_for_a_better_tomorrow_2017FINALENG.pdf


Review of Public Services Boards 9

Public bodies have not taken the opportunity to effectively organise, 
resource and integrate the work of PSBs

9  Whilst PSBs are building on the work of Local Service Boards and 
generally have the right membership, some key partners are not actively 
involved, and irregular attendance and lack of engagement restrict 
progress. Most PSBs are clear on their remit, adopting the model 
terms of reference set out in the Act. The focus of PSB work varies 
widely, a reflection of local circumstances and priorities. However, 
Welsh Government guidance on impact assessments is not being 
used consistently. The advice provided by the Future Generations 
Commissioner is not always valued or acted on. The lack of dedicated 
funding is seen as limiting the potential of PSBs to make a positive and 
lasting impact on Welsh communities.

PSBs are not being consistently scrutinised or held to account

10 PSBs are not taking the opportunity to tell people what they are doing 
and develop a shared view of what needs to improve. Whilst some PSBs 
are providing a supportive space for reflection and self-analysis, they are 
not yet enhancing democratic accountability nor improving transparency. 
Public involvement and scrutiny arrangements are too inconsistent and 
variable to ensure that scrutiny of PSBs fully meets the expectations of 
the Welsh Government’s guidance. Despite some positive and effective 
work to embed and make scrutiny truly effective, more work is required to 
ensure a consistent level of performance and impact.

Despite public bodies valuing PSBs, there is no agreement on how 
their role should operate now or in the future

11 There is no single or right model for how PSBs should be organised and 
should work. Each will reflect the context of its area, the focus of Board 
members and their priorities for action. Nonetheless, public bodies working 
across regions find it challenging to participate in numerous Boards and 
there remains overlap between the PSBs and the work and membership 
of other partnerships, in particular the Regional Partnership Boards. 
However, opportunities for reducing duplication are not being taken. 
Some partners are concerned that fewer, larger PSBs will limit the focus 
on communities and make accountability and decision making too distant 
from citizens.

Page 60



 Review of Public Services Boards10

12 Comparatively, PSBs have more in common with Community Planning 
Partnerships in Scotland but do not deliver projects and co-ordinate 
funding programmes like their Scottish counterparts. Strategic partnership 
work in England is left to each council to determine. English councils are 
focusing on strategically using land-use planning power, the General 
Power of Competence and the ability to negotiate reuse of income 
generated from flexing business rates to encourage growth that helps 
tackle problems. In both Scotland and England there is more focus on 
partnerships ‘doing’.

Page 61



Review of Public Services Boards 11

Recommendations
13 Our recommendations are intended to help support the PSB members and 

the Welsh Government to improve the operation, effectiveness and impact 
of PSBs.

Exhibit 2: recommendations

Recommendations

R1 In Part 1 of the report we set out that understanding the impact of 
choices and decisions requires public bodies to fully involve citizens 
and stakeholders and undertake comprehensive Impact Assessments. 
However, we found that current practice is insufficient to provide 
assurance that the needs of people with protected characteristics are 
fully considered when reviewing choices and the voice of citizens is not 
sufficiently influencing decisions. We recommend that PSBs:

• conduct formal assessments to identify the potential impact on 
people with protected characteristics and the Welsh language 
and review agreed actions to ensure any adverse impacts are 
addressed; 

• improve transparency and accountability by making PSB 
meetings, agendas, papers and minutes accessible and 
available to the public; 

• strengthen involvement by working to the guidance in the 
National Principles for Public Engagement in Wales; and 

• feed back the outcome of involvement activity identifying 
where changes are made as a result of the input of citizens and 
stakeholders.

R2 In Part 2 of the report we review arrangements for PSB scrutiny and 
conclude that there are shortcomings and weaknesses in current 
performance and practice. To improve scrutiny, we recommend 
that:
• PSBs and public bodies use the findings of the Auditor General 

for Wales’ Discussion Paper: Six themes to help make scrutiny 
‘Fit for the Future’ to review their current performance and 
identify where they need to strengthen oversight arrangements 
and activity; and

• PSBs ensure scrutiny committees have adequate engagement 
with a wider range of relevant stakeholders who can help hold 
PSBs to account.

Page 62

https://participation.cymru/en/principles/
http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/local-government-scrutiny-2019-discussion-paper-eng.pdf
http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/local-government-scrutiny-2019-discussion-paper-eng.pdf


 Review of Public Services Boards12

Recommendations

R3    In Part 3 of the report we summarise the difficulty of developing, 
implementing and resourcing PSBs and the challenges of managing 
multiple partnerships that can often have overlap and duplication. To 
help build capacity, consistency and resourcing of activity we 
recommend that:
• PSBs take the opportunity to discharge other plan and strategy 

obligations through the Local Wellbeing Plan;
• the Welsh Government enables PSBs to develop flexible 

models of working including:
‒ merging, reducing and integrating their work with other forums 

such as Regional Partnership Boards; and
‒ giving PSBs flexibility to receive, manage and spend grant monies 

subject to PSBs ensuring they have adequate safeguards and 
appropriate systems in place for management of funding; effective 
budget and grant programme controls; and public reporting, 
scrutiny and oversight systems to manage expenditure.

R4 To help build capacity, consistency and resourcing of activity 
we recommend that the Welsh Government and Welsh Local 
Government Association in their review of strategic partnerships 
take account of, and explore, the findings of this review.

Page 63



Part 1

Public bodies have not always taken 
the opportunity to effectively organise 
and resource the work of PSBs 

Page 64



Review of Public Services Boards14

1.1 Shared Purpose Shared Future – Collective role: Public Services Boards 
explains the Act and the work of PSBs, identifying council boundaries 
as the principle basis for joint working. The guidance also sets out how 
PSBs can merge, should collaborate to widen coverage and encourages 
them to operate more efficiently by providing them with the opportunity to 
discharge other planning and strategy reporting duties through the work 
of the PSB. In this part of the report we look at the evolution of PSBs and 
how they are meeting the expectations of the Welsh Government. We also 
consider their membership, focus, resourcing, operation and the evolution 
of PSBs from their forerunner bodies, Local Service Boards. 

PSBs are building on the work of Local Service Boards and 
generally have the right membership, but attendance at meetings 
fluctuates and some key stakeholders are not always involved

1.2 The Welsh Government’s Making the Connections: Delivering Beyond 
Boundaries published in 2006, created Local Service Boards (LSBs) within 
each council area. Like PSBs, LSBs were intended ‘to bring together 
the key contributors to local service delivery, both devolved and non-
devolved’3 to improve co-operation in service planning and undertake joint 
action where the need is identified, and where good outcomes depend 
on joined-up action. The intention was for the LSBs to be an over-arching 
mechanism of co-ordination, bringing together the main public service 
providers – councils, local health boards, police, the fire and rescue 
services and the Welsh Government itself. 

1.3 Whilst the work and focus of LSBs naturally evolved over their life, partly 
tailored by the expectations and requirements of revised guidance4, they 
were the key forerunner to PSBs. From our review we found that many 
PSBs have evolved from the LSBs, building upon the foundations of the 
previous partnerships (for instance, Ceredigion5 and Merthyr Tydfil6). 
In many cases the same individuals have moved from LSBs to PSBs 
continuing to deliver broadly the same role with the same responsibilities.

3 Welsh Assembly Government, Making the Connections - Delivering Beyond Boundaries: 
Transforming Public Services in Wales, – page 3, November 2006.

4 For example, Shared Purpose, Shared Delivery: Guidance on Integrating Partnerships 
and Plans, December 2012.

5 http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/CeredigionStrategicPartnerships_Public/13.5.1-
EstablishmentOfCeredigionPSB.pdf 

6 https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s31707/Committee%20Report.pdf Page 65

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-role-public-services-boards.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080109181520/http:/new.wales.gov.uk/dpsp/publications/policies/delivering/Responsee?lang=en
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20080109181520/http:/new.wales.gov.uk/dpsp/publications/policies/delivering/Responsee?lang=en
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/dpsp/publications/130205sharedpurpdeliveryv2en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/dpsp/publications/130205sharedpurpdeliveryv2en.pdf


Review of Public Services Boards 15

1.4 Most PSBs are chaired by council representatives: three by council chief 
executives and ten by council leaders. Of the other PSBs, two are chaired 
by the local health board representative, two by the chief executives of a 
local national park and two rotate the chairing between statutory partners. In 
addition to the statutory members the public bodies most frequently invited 
to PSB meetings are the Welsh Government, the police, probation services, 
national parks and representatives of the local voluntary sector. Exhibit 3 
summarises the main attendees across the 19 PSBs and the frequency of 
their attendance at meetings. 

Exhibit 3: frequency of attendance of PSB members 
There is a wide variation in attendance across the 19 PSBs from statutory members and 
statutory invitees ranging from below 50% to 100% on individual PSBs. 

PSB members Status Lead 
attended

Deputies 
attended

No 
attendance

Council leader Statutory 
members

52% 33% 15%

Senior council 
officers

Statutory 
members

64% 28% 8%

Fire and rescue 
authority

Statutory 
members

54% 46% -

Health board Statutory 
members

52% 45% 3%

Natural Resources 
Wales

Statutory 
members

61% 34% 5%

Welsh Government Statutory invitees 47% 13% 40%

Chief constable Statutory invitees 45% 44% 11%

Police and crime 
commissioner

Statutory invitees 30% 28% 42%

Probation Statutory invitees 25% 25% 50%

Page 66



 Review of Public Services Boards16

PSB members Status Lead 
attended

Deputies 
attended

No 
attendance

Community 
rehabilitation 
company

Statutory invitees 24% 8% 68%

National parks Invitees 81% - 19%

Voluntary sector 
representative

Statutory invitees 77% - 23%

Source: Wales Audit Office review of minutes for PSB meetings

1.5 Exhibit 2 highlights that all statutory partners across all PSBs frequently 
send deputies, particularly health boards and fire and rescue authorities, 
who tend to be represented by area directors or area managers rather 
than chief executives or chief finance officers. The lack of continuity in 
attendance and frequency of substitutions is regularly flagged as reducing 
the effectiveness of PSBs.

1.6 For instance, one respondent to our call for evidence commented 
that ‘while the Act is quite prescriptive with regards to the seniority of 
individuals required to sit on the Board, replacements or substitutes 
are still fairly common. The PSB only meets five times a year and 
inconsistency in representation means that it is difficult to create 
momentum in terms of delivering a shared vision and purpose.’ Another 
noted that it was critical that the PSB had ‘a focus on ensuring all partners 
who attend see the value of their role in the PSB, some attend without 
adding the value required, without actively supporting’ and another that 
‘the Boards are variable and depend very much on the dynamic amongst 
the organisations who attend. Unless senior members of participating 
organisations attend, they [the Board] very quickly run out of steam.’

Page 67



Review of Public Services Boards 17

1.7 Despite all PSBs having voluntary sector representation, county voluntary 
councils’ and Wales Council for Voluntary Alliance members report that 
the work of PSBs feels very distant from the reality of the day to day work 
of third sector organisations. The culture of PSBs also feels like a local 
authority owned agenda, notably in areas where the number of local 
authority representatives outweighs that of other organisations. They 
conclude that ‘the current balance of power is reflective of the status quo, 
a ‘two-tier’ system with a clear onus on the four statutory partners versus 
the ‘other’ members; resulting in weak collective ownership of the work’7. 

1.8 PSBs also invite a wide range of other organisations to participate in and 
shape their work. For example, further or higher education institutions 
and housing associations. We found that only three PSBs have regular 
attendance from town and community councils – Neath Port Talbot, 
Torfaen and the Vale of Glamorgan – and only one PSB (Swansea) has 
a good level of involvement with the private sector through the Regional 
Business Forum. No faith groups are involved in the work of PSBs despite 
their value being recognised in wellbeing assessments.

PSBs are engaging with citizens, but are not involving them in their 
work

1.9 The legislation makes it clear that PSBs should work in a citizen-centred 
way, involving citizens in the co-design and delivery of wellbeing plans. 
PSBs have undertaken extensive stakeholder engagement activity 
when developing and finalising their wellbeing objectives and the Local 
Wellbeing Plan. For instance, questionnaire surveys in Ceredigion, 
Caerphilly, Pembrokeshire, Torfaen, Neath Port Talbot, the Vale of 
Glamorgan and Newport; and public engagement sessions and workshops 
in designated ‘community areas’ in Gwynedd and Anglesey, Bridgend, 
Cardiff, Neath Port Talbot, Monmouthshire, Swansea, Flintshire, Conwy 
and Denbighshire.

7 Submission from Third Sector Support Wales (TSSW) to the National Assembly for Wales’ 
Equalities, Local Government and Communities Committee – inquiry in relation to Public 
Services Boards, May 2018.  Page 68



Review of Public Services Boards18

1.10 Other notable examples of engagement include the refocusing of citizens8 

panels onto PSB activity such as the Blaenau Gwent Citizens Panel, 
Your Voice Wrexham, Involve Newport and the Torfaen People’s Panel. 
The Torfaen Consultation Hub helps the public find and participate in 
consultations run by all public service organisations in Torfaen. And the 
One Cwm Taf newsletter9 and One Newport bulletin10 are good examples 
of how PSBs are informing people about what is going on, inviting 
comment, and promoting volunteering.

1.11 Whilst engagement activity has been time consuming and extensive it has 
nonetheless tended to follow traditional approaches focussed on informing 
rather than involving people and consequently falls short of meeting the 
new expectations of the Act. For example, it is unclear how such activity 
has been used to shape PSB priorities, the final wellbeing objectives 
and the actions needed to deliver change. Similalrly, stakeholders are 
not made aware of the impact of their contribution and we found little 
evidence of how PSBs are ensuring the full diversity of stakeholders are 
represented and take part in involvement and engagement activity. For 
instance, we found that only Bridgend PSB has specifically engaged with 
and sought to involve people with protected characteristics. Engagement 
activity across Wales has only occurred in English or Welsh, and not in 
other languages or by using British Sign Language (BSL). We conclude 
that PSBs are not consistently involving people who have the most to gain 
from public bodies taking a stronger focus on improving citizens’ lives.

8 A Citizens’ Panel aims to be a representative, consultative body of local residents. It is 
typically used by statutory agencies, particularly local authorities and their partners, to 
identify local priorities and to consult service users and non-users on specific issues.

 9 http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=403
10 http://www.newport.gov.uk/oneNewport/News/One-Newport-Bulletin.aspx Page 69

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=403
http://www.newport.gov.uk/oneNewport/News/One-Newport-Bulletin.aspx


Review of Public Services Boards 19

Most PSBs have adopted the Terms of Reference set out in the Act

1.12 Terms of reference define the purpose and structures of the PSB and are 
the basis for partners agreeing to work together to accomplish a shared 
goal. Good terms of reference will set out the governance, functions and 
ambitions of the PSB and will highlight how partners and the public will 
be involved. They will also provide a documented basis for making future 
decisions because they define the: 

 a vision, objectives, scope and deliverables (ie what has to be achieved);

 b stakeholders, roles and responsibilities (ie who will take part in it);

 c resource, financial and quality plans (ie how it will be achieved); and

 d work breakdown structure and schedule (ie when it will be achieved).

1.13 Whilst the Welsh Government encourages local flexibility, we found that 17 
of the 19 PSBs have adopted terms of reference in line with the Act, but 
with little variation to take account of local circumstances. Whilst nearly 
all terms of reference follow the same format, we found that six do not set 
out how sub and working groups will be established and operate and five 
do not set out how people and partners will be engaged in the work of the 
PSB. Resources, capacity building and skills development are the major 
gaps in the current terms of reference. Cardiff, Caerphilly and Newport 
PSBs have updated their terms of reference and Swansea PSB has 
produced some good guidance to support the work of the PSB. The terms 
of reference developed by Gwynedd and the Isle of Anglesey helpfully sets 
out and explains how disagreement and conflict will be resolved.

Page 70



Review of Public Services Boards20

PSB agendas vary widely and Welsh Government guidance on 
impact assessments is not sufficiently clear to direct activity in key 
areas

1.14 Decisions made in PSB meetings ultimately determine the success or 
failure of the PSB, but meetings can often run the risk of being unfocused 
and unproductive if they do not have a clear agenda. From our review of 
minutes and agendas we found that the coverage of agendas, quality of 
reports and the minutes are hugely variable. Between April 2016 and July 
2019, we identified from PSB and council websites that PSBs have met 
a total of 208 times. We were, however, unable to find public information 
on dates of meetings, agendas, minutes and reports for 11 PSBs for 
some or all of this period. Indeed, two PSBs have not reported publicly on 
when they have met, nor have they published agendas, board papers and 
minutes of meetings since April 2016.

1.15 Whilst we only have a partial picture of PSB performance, we found that 
as of June 2019:

 a PSBs had, on average, 18 core attendees at each meeting, with the 
number of participants ranging from 16 to 42 people;

 b the average length of meetings is 2.5 hours; 

 c PSBs have received over 1,100 reports and over 300 formal 
presentations as well as regular verbal updates and tabled items;

 d ‘host’ councils are allocated approximately 98% of the tasks for action 
arising from meetings; and

 e each PSB has on average four sub-groups ranging from no sub-groups 
in four PSBs to 11 in one.

Page 71



Review of Public Services Boards 21

1.16 Too often reports and minutes are not clearly written and are full of jargon 
which can make it difficult for the public to judge the quality of decision 
making and the work of PSBs. Conclusions of discussions often end in the 
Board ‘noting’ items, or ‘thanking’ partners for contributions, and agendas 
regularly include matters for information not decision. And, because these 
tend not to be matters for action they are consequently not monitored or 
scrutinised in later PSB meetings. One respondent to our call for evidence 
noted from their experience ‘the PSB has also become a bit of a ‘catch 
all’ for initiatives. Agendas have become long and discussion time limited.’ 
Overall, we conclude that PSBs are not doing enough to report publicly 
and openly on their work to ensure stakeholders and citizens can judge 
performance and hold them to account. This weakens transparency and 
accountability and it is difficult to see how public bodies are collectively 
taking a stronger focus on improving local citizens’ lives in line with 
national guidance and public interest.

1.17 We found that Welsh Government guidance11 is also not clear on whether 
PSBs should undertake impact assessments, noting that ‘a public services 
board is not under a duty to carry out formal impact assessments. 
However, they might consider it a useful way of reflecting on matters that 
statutory members of the board would need to consider or expect to be 
considering in any case if they are to meaningfully assess the well-being of 
their area.’ Consequently, PSBs have adopted a variety of approaches to 
gauge and understand the potential impact of their decisions. For instance, 
whilst some Boards have undertaken PSB specific impact assessments, 
others rely on individual organisations’ impact assessments. These are, 
however, often not specific to the PSBs’ priorities or planned actions and 
can be unsighted by other Board members.

1.18 More generally, respondents to our call for evidence flag concerns 
with Welsh Government guidance and advice, perceiving it as overly 
bureaucratic, too prescriptive and not being sufficiently integrated with 
other key partnership guidance, in particular Regional Partnership Boards. 
For instance, one noted that ‘the legislation has been very prescriptive, 
and it has delayed the start of work on projects. Early discussions 
focussed on dates when things had to be done by and perversely dates 
things couldn’t be started until a time lapse had occurred.’ Another 
commentator noted that to support the PSBs to flourish requires ‘less 
nationally imposed demands and expectations; less central generated 
bureaucracy’ and another that PSBs should have ‘greater flexibility to 
enable the PSB to focus on initiatives rather than compliance with the 
guidance’.

11 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-role-public-
services-boards.pdf Page 72

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-role-public-services-boards.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/spsf-3-collective-role-public-services-boards.pdf


Review of Public Services Boards22

PSBs have mixed views on the benefits of the advice they receive 
from the Future Generations Commissioner

1.19 The Future Generations Commissioner has clearly set out to PSBs the 
expectation that their work should be focussed on specific issues, where 
the PSB is more likely to make transformative changes that can help 
improve people’s wellbeing. Indeed, the Commissioner has asked PSBs 
to consider focussing more deeply on a small number of issues and to 
consider different ways of tackling issues rather than continuing with some 
of the more traditional approaches which have not proved successful in 
the past.

1.20 The Commissioner has also made clear that part of her role is ‘continuing 
the conversation’ and in 2016-17 sent letters of advice to PSBs in 
response to their wellbeing assessments, which culminated in her national 
report Well-being in Wales: planning today for a better tomorrow. 
The Commissioner also provided advice to PSBs on their draft wellbeing 
objectives in 2017-18, as PSBs were preparing their wellbeing plans.

1.21 We found that PSBs are responding very differently to this advice. Some 
PSBs, such as Ceredigion, Cwm Taf and Pembrokeshire, have evidently 
reviewed the advice – for instance, the Commissioner’s ‘Art of the 
Possible’12 programme – and PSB partners have considered collectively 
how they can best use these insights to refine their work. Despite 
respecting the advice and guidance provided by the Commissioner 
and her office, minutes of some PSBs’ meetings note that the length 
and timeliness of advice could be better and that it is often viewed as 
impractical and not helpful in supporting the PSB to improve. 

1.22 For instance, minutes of the Newport PSB meeting of 21 November 
2017 note that ‘Members commented that the Commissioner’s advice 
was overly lengthy and could usefully have provided a clearer steer 
on expectations and guidance models for the PSB in terms of how it 
could do things differently.’13 Similarly, the Wrexham PSB meeting of 
13 September 2018 noted that ‘[the commissioner] is asking PSBs to 
consider the governance between themselves and the RPBs. PSB felt 
advice is badly timed to consider this in detail at the moment’.14 These are 
echoed by responses to our call for evidence, with feedback from one PSB 
member noting that the ‘idealist expectations of the Future Generations 
Commissioner’ hinder the work of the PSB.

12 The ‘Art of the Possible’ is one of the Commissioner’s main programmes of work. It is 
a partnership approach to shining a light on great work that is improving wellbeing in 
communities across Wales. 

13 http://www.newport.gov.uk/documents/One-Newport/PSB-Minutes-21-November-2017.pdf
14 https://www.wrexhampsb.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/WrexhamPSB-13-09-18-mins.pdfPage 73

https://futuregenerations.wales/work/well-wales-planning-today-better-tomorrow/
https://futuregenerations.wales/the-art-of-the-possible/
http://www.newport.gov.uk/documents/One-Newport/PSB-Minutes-21-November-2017.pdf
https://www.wrexhampsb.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/WrexhamPSB-13-09-18-mins.pdf


Review of Public Services Boards 23

The lack of dedicated funding limits the work and impact of PSBs

1.23 The Act requires councils to make administrative support available to the 
PSB – ensuring the board is established and meets regularly; preparing 
the agenda and commissioning papers for meetings; inviting participants 
and managing attendance; work on the annual report and preparation 
of evidence for scrutiny. However, it is for each board to determine 
appropriate and proportionate resourcing of their collective functions which 
are the responsibility of all the statutory members equally.

1.24 The main source of ‘income’ for PSBs is the Welsh Government’s Regional 
Grant which is issued on a health board footprint and must be spent for the 
benefit of all PSBs within that region and cannot be spent on project work. 
We found that some PSBs have set budgets. Cwm Taf PSB has a pooled 
budget to support administrative work with contributions from the councils 
and health board. Similarly, both the councils and health board members 
of the Neath Port Talbot and Swansea PSBs each contribute £10,000 
to cover the cost of administrative support. A number of PSBs are also 
seeking to align their work with other partnership groups in order to share 
grant funding. 

1.25 Outside of this funding, the majority of partners’ contribution to the PSBs 
is a ‘contribution in kind’, usually officer time and use of facilities with most 
expenditure being absorbed by each partner, in particular the council. This 
is particularly challenging for councils as they are required to service the 
PSB and deliver the scrutiny role which goes wider than providing support 
for meetings. However, it is clear that partners also do not have the 
capacity to take on more and resources and capacity remain a key risk. 
Indeed, one of the key messages from our call for evidence is in relation to 
resources, capacity and the need for a dedicated funding stream for PSBs.

Page 74



Review of Public Services Boards24

Call for evidence feedback on major risks facing the PSB:

Source: Wales Audit Office, Call for Evidence, May to June 2019. 

‘The main barriers relate 
to issues of resources and 

capacity.’

‘Provide access to 
financial support – all 

partners are financially 
stretched and even 

if collaboration 
opportunities are 

identified there are 
still set up costs and a 
need for staff support.’

‘In order for the PSB 
to begin fulfilling its 
potential, it needs 
dedicated funding. 

Crucially, this needs 
to be allocated to the 

PSB … not just the local 
authority or the statutory 
partners. The allocation 
of shared resource to 

RPBs in the form of ICF 
& transformation fund 
has galvanised multi-
agency, cross-sector 

collaboration.’

‘Dedicated funding, 
resources and improved 

clarity around expectations 
of PSBs relative to other 

collaborations would 
improve impact.’

‘PSBs receive no direct funding, 
this is a limiting factor. The 

capacity and capabilities of each 
partner vary so each partner 

contributes in very different ways. 
Inevitably those partners with 

the broadest shoulders carry the 
heaviest load which is an issue 
at a time of austerity when all 

organisations are under financial 
pressure and struggling with 

limited resources.’

‘Over the past three years, the local authority has allocated 
significant resource to ensure the effective operation of the 
PSB. This is a significant burden which is not sustainable 

in the long term.’ ‘The main barriers relate 
to issues of resources and 

capacity across partner 
organisations: lack of 

dedicated PSB partnership 
resource budget; reduced 

capacity across senior 
managers in the public sector 
following 6 years of austerity; 
and lack of additional funding 
from Welsh Government to 
deliver on the requirements 
of the WBFGA, particularly 
in comparison to that made 

available to deliver the 
SSWBA.’

‘The lack of direct financial resources prevents some 
actions being undertaken – the time and effort required 
to look at pooled/shared budgets is disproportionate to 

any success. WG should ensure that some of the funding 
streams are directed to PSB - ICF, Transformation funds 
etc. This would help recognise the role of PSB and speed 

up change and reconfiguration of services.’

Page 75



Part 2

Public Services Boards are not 
consistently being scrutinised or held 
to account

Page 76



Review of Public Services Boards26

2.1 The Act identifies that local councils are responsible for the formal 
overview and scrutiny of PSBs, and in particular the: provision of a 
supportive space for reflection and self-analysis; enhanced democratic 
accountability and improved transparency; a stronger focus on improving 
local citizens’ lives; and place-based transformation through deeper public 
engagement. The three main roles of overview and scrutiny committees 
are set out in Welsh Government guidance and defined as:

 a reviewing the PSBs’ governance arrangements; 

 b acting as statutory consultees on the wellbeing assessment and Local 
Wellbeing Plan; and 

 c monitoring progress on the PSBs’ implementation of the Local 
Wellbeing Plan and engagement in the PSB planning cycle. 

2.2 In order to ensure democratic accountability, councils must designate a 
scrutiny committee to review the governance arrangements of the PSB as 
well as review or scrutinise the decisions made, or actions taken by the 
PSB, and make reports or recommendations to the Board regarding its 
functions or governance arrangements. It is for each council to determine 
what form these scrutiny arrangements take. For example, existing 
legislative powers can be used to put in place joint arrangements, such 
as ‘co-opting’ persons who are not members of the authority to sit on the 
committee, and where appropriate to appoint joint committees across 
more than one local authority area. The committee can require any 
statutory member of the Board to give evidence, but only in respect of the 
exercise of joint functions conferred on them as a statutory member. This 
includes any person that has accepted an invitation to participate in the 
activity of the Board.

2.3 We found a wide variation in how councils have configured their PSB 
scrutiny functions. Five have a dedicated PSB scrutiny committee, five 
include oversight within the remit of a partnership scrutiny committee, 
and others have established reporting lines through policy and resources 
scrutiny committees. Swansea has the largest scrutiny committee inviting 
an average of 32 people to each meeting in 2018 and 2019. However, 
one council has not yet designated or created a scrutiny committee for the 
PSB and another has only recently created a scrutiny committee, which 
is yet to meet. Councils that have integrated the scrutiny of the PSB with 
other responsibilities often have committees with very broad remits and 
councillors lack the capacity to consider everything they need to. As a 
result, the work of the PSB can take a low priority. 

Page 77



Review of Public Services Boards 27

2.4 The timing and frequency of meetings do not help scrutiny committees 
to monitor progress on the PSBs’ implementation of the Local Wellbeing 
Plan. For instance, most scrutiny committees are not timetabling their 
meetings to mirror the cycle of PSB meetings. The frequency of council 
scrutiny committee meetings also varies widely, a reflection of whether 
oversight has been tasked to an existing committee or to a dedicated 
committee focussed purely on the PSB. Consequently, some scrutiny 
committees meet monthly, others less frequently. 

2.5 Our review of council scrutiny papers, agendas and reports found that a 
number of committees are focussing on internal administration, structures 
and procedures and not enough on providing insight or challenge to 
PSBs. We saw evidence that most, but not all, scrutiny committees are 
consulted on the PSBs’ wellbeing assessment and Local Wellbeing Plan, 
but it is not always clear what impact their scrutiny has had. Some scrutiny 
committees simply note receipt of the Local Wellbeing Plan with minutes 
recording no or little comment or challenge. 

2.6 With regard to monitoring progress on the PSBs’ implementation of 
the Local Wellbeing Plan and engagement in the PSB planning cycle, 
we found big differences in how scrutiny committees are performing. 
There is good evidence that some scrutiny committees are effectively 
challenging the work of PSBs. For example, the work of Cardiff Council’s 
Policy Review and Performance scrutiny committee when considering 
the PSB’s Wellbeing Report 2017-1815. Likewise, Caerphilly provide PSB 
performance reports to members in advance of scrutiny meetings to help 
members set their lines of enquiry and to ensure that the right PSB partner 
officers attend meetings to answer these questions. In addition, pre-
meeting discussions also allow officers to present questions under themes 
to sharpen the focus of scrutiny. 

15 http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s25545/Minutes%20Public%20Pack%20
03102018%20Policy%20Review%20and%20Performance%20Scrutiny%20Committee.
pdf Page 78

https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s25545/Minutes%20Public%20Pack%2003102018%20Policy%20Review%20and%20Performance%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s25545/Minutes%20Public%20Pack%2003102018%20Policy%20Review%20and%20Performance%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s25545/Minutes%20Public%20Pack%2003102018%20Policy%20Review%20and%20Performance%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf


 Review of Public Services Boards28

16 http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/CeredigionStrategicPartnerships_Public/10.8%20
Scrutiny%20Feedback%2030.11.2017.pdf 

2.7 However, these positive examples are not universal, and we found 
significant shortcomings in how some scrutiny committees are reviewing 
and scrutinising the decisions made and actions taken by PSBs. For 
instance, reports and updates on the work of PSBs are simply noted by 
some scrutiny committees, whilst other committees are not tracking the 
number, discussion of, discharge, and impact of the recommendations 
they make for PSBs to action. Scrutiny Committee papers and minutes 
can also be full of jargon and abbreviations which can make it difficult 
for councillors to examine performance, a point noted by Ceredigion’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Co-ordinating Committee16. This makes it difficult 
for councils to demonstrate how they are discharging the expectations of 
the Welsh Government’s guidance. 

2.8 Of the councils that published annual scrutiny reports, we found little 
commentary on their responsibilities to scrutinise PSB governance 
arrangements and whether the current systems are effective or need to 
change. The Terms of Reference of PSBs are generally not reviewed by 
scrutiny committees. This is important because PSBs’ governance work 
may evolve over time and priorities may change. 

2.9 Whilst some PSB scrutiny committees encourage wider attendance at 
meetings this could be more inclusive to ensure stakeholders and citizens 
are given the opportunity to hold their PSB to account. All PSB scrutiny 
committees are chaired by a councillor, membership of committees is 
primarily made up of local councillors and there are few co-opted members 
from PSB partners. Consequently, the work of committees ends up with 
a heavy ‘council focus’. Many PSBs are not open to the public , and we 
found that only one PSB – Swansea – encourages involvement and 
engagement with the public at PSB meetings through its public ‘question 
time’. In addition, Cardiff and Swansea tabled questions from the public. 
Cwm Taf and Cardiff advertise PSB and scrutiny meetings in the local 
press and on social media and several other PSBs have dedicated public-
facing websites with a good range of useful and accessible information, 
the best of which we consider to be Cwm Taf and Blaenau Gwent. 
Websites with good quality material make it easy for the public to become 
more informed and involved in the work of the PSB. Despite these positive 
examples, there is more for PSBs and public bodies to do to ensure there 
is effective oversight of the work of Boards.

Page 79

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/CeredigionStrategicPartnerships_Public/10.8%20Scrutiny%20Feedback%2030.11.2017.pdf
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/CeredigionStrategicPartnerships_Public/10.8%20Scrutiny%20Feedback%2030.11.2017.pdf


Part 3

Despite public bodies valuing PSBs, 
there is no agreement on how their role 
should evolve 

Page 80



 Review of Public Services Boards30

3.1 There is no single or right model for how PSBs should be organised and 
should work. Each PSB is the sum of its members and will reflect the local 
context, the needs of its areas and the agreed priorities for action. Since 
the establishment of Public Services Boards in 2016, much of the focus 
of their early work has been on completing the wellbeing assessment, 
adopting the Local Wellbeing Plan and establishing governance and 
operating arrangements between partners. Most PSBs have now reached 
a pivotal moment, where these arrangements are well-established and 
are turning their attention to delivering the outcomes they have set out. It 
is timely, therefore that PSBs pause and consider their role and how they 
can ensure their work is focussed sufficiently on meeting the objectives of 
the Act. 

Partners support the continuation of PSBs, but they have mixed 
views on what their future role should be

3.2 Nearly all partners responding to our call for evidence said that PSBs are 
the right vehicle to deliver the ambitions of the Act but also acknowledged 
they are only part of the solution. Whilst most partners note that PSBs will 
only have impact if they are allowed time and space to develop, many who 
responded to our call for evidence highlighted that structures also need 
to change to support them to flourish. Proposals included more flexibility 
to allow PSBs to operate without overly prescriptive guidance, exploring 
regional working and greater clarity over the roles and links between PSBs 
and Regional Partnership Boards.

‘I would not want to see wholesale change being introduced again. We have had 
Community Planning and Leadership Partnerships and Community Plan; then 
the Local Service Board and Single Integrated Plan, and now we have Public 
Services Board and Wellbeing Plan. We cannot just keep shuffling the deck 
chairs, changing the name of partnerships, and expecting change for the better. I 
think most people are fed up with the 5-year cycle of change of partnership, new 
assessments, new plans and then ‘all change’ before anything has had chance 
to bed in and deliver real transformation and improvement. The Well-being of 
Future Generations Act needs us to plan for the long term – to do that, we need 
a long-term commitment to PSBs, even if an element of the work moves onto a 
regional footing.’ – Call for evidence response.

Page 81



Review of Public Services Boards 31

3.3 PSB members often attend numerous partnerships and respondents to our 
Call for Evidence noted difficulties in aligning all priorities, and often the 
work of their organisation is remote and not central to delivery of wellbeing 
objectives or the Local Wellbeing Plan. This can be especially difficult 
for fire and rescue authorities who cover between four and nine PSBs; 
the national park authorities who work with between one and nine PSBs; 
and the police who operate across four and six PSBs. For example, one 
respondent to our call for evidence noted that ‘both Swansea and NPT 
PSBs have very similar wellbeing plans and yet these are being developed 
in parallel rather than in a collaborative joined up way which ignores local 
authority boundaries. This is a particular issue for partners who cover 
more than one PSB area – it duplicates work (attendance at numerous 
meetings discussing the same issues in different LA areas), it means 
missed opportunities for greater collaboration.’ Bodies working across a 
region consequently find it hard to resource every PSB meeting, sub group 
and council scrutiny meeting.

3.4 PSB members likewise find it challenging to respond to and align 
partnership activity under different pieces of legislation. As well as having 
to create PSBs, they are also required to form regional partnership 
boards under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act and regional delivery 
arrangements under the recent Violence Against Women legislation. 
Reducing the complexity of public service governance has long been an 
aim of the Welsh Government, local government and other public service 
partners who note that the lack of alignment between partnerships which 
continue to operate on different geographical boundaries can dilute impact, 
stretch capacity and increase complexity. Partnerships undoubtedly can 
help drive transformational change, but the top-down prescriptive model 
favoured to date, coupled with different emphases in different legislation 
and guidance, has not always helped Public Bodies to deliver on the 
ground. 

3.5 This is not unique to PSBs and echoes the findings of the Auditor 
General’s recent review on the Integrated Care Fund and the work of 
regional partnership boards17. For example, regional partnership boards 
operate on health-board boundaries, whereas others like the majority 
of PSBs operate on a local authority footprint. A number of respondents 
also highlighted that PSBs, unlike regional partnership boards, are not 
allocated resources to directly spend. This is resulting in some PSB 
partners choosing to prioritise the work of regional partnership boards over 
PSBs because the former makes decisions on where to invest and spend 
money and the latter does not. 

17 https://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/integrated-care-fund-report-eng.pdf Page 82

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/CeredigionStrategicPartnerships_Public/10.8%20Scrutiny%20Feedback%2030.11.2017.pdf


 Review of Public Services Boards32

3.6 However, given the weaknesses identified in earlier sections of this 
report on the inadequacy of accountability and oversight arrangements, 
the lack of public reporting and the duplication of PSB activity with other 
partnerships, there are risks in allocating PSBs resources to manage. 
For PSBs to start to control and spend money will require changes and 
improvements in how PSBs work; how they publicly report; how they 
are scrutinised and held to account; and clear expectations on how they 
should manage and control PSB budgets and expenditure.

3.7 It is unsurprising that many we have spoken to and who responded to our 
call for evidence flag the current multifaceted partnership environment 
as a potential block to improvement because resources and capacity are 
being overextended. It is often the same individuals who are expected to 
contribute to and attend PSBs and regional partnership boards, putting 
considerable pressures on their time and resources. For instance, one 
respondent to our call for evidence noted that ‘the partnership landscape is 
now rather complex ….... the PSB has found it challenging to find an area 
where they can add value and not duplicate other areas’. Whilst another 
highlighted that ‘the capacity to service both PSB and RPB partnership 
arrangements is an issue. A single partnership arrangement would help 
to reduce duplication, ensure adequate officer support and provide clarity 
regarding governance and accountability.’ 

3.8 Finally, one respondent highlighted that ‘the relationship between PSBs, 
RPBs and other bodies (City Deal, APBs) is very confusing and makes 
for a cluttered landscape. It is difficult for professionals to understand – 
let alone the public we are supposed to serve. Competing cycles – most 
public sector organisations are funded annually; political terms are 4/5 
years and yet PSBs are trying to develop solutions for the next generation 
– these factors work against each other.’

3.9 There are nevertheless mixed opinions on whether PSBs should operate 
on local or regional footprints and whether they should merge with other 
partnerships. Whilst there are tensions inherent in the existing structures, 
there are also challenges to changing them. Whilst larger partnerships 
offer economy of scale, they can also become remote moving decision 
making and prioritisation further away from communities. The Welsh 
Government is also clear that not all partnership structures do the same 
job. Some are about case management or operational delivery across 
services whilst others focus on developing a shared strategic perspective 
and it is not always possible, or desirable, to bring these together. 

Page 83



Review of Public Services Boards 33

3.10 As well as PSBs, the Welsh Government18 has identified 23 other major 
partnership groupings, broadly aligned with the following themes:

 a Economy and skills – 3

 b Health and social care – 4

 c Criminal justice and community safety – 8

 d Children and young people – 3

 e Housing – 4

 f Other – 1

3.11 Though most of these emanate from, or are driven by, national 
requirements, how they are organised, managed and work is very much 
left to public bodies to determine, recognition that there is no one or right 
way for partnerships to organise themselves. And whilst some boards 
have ensured that the responsibilities of different regional and local boards 
are clearly defined and seek to keep duplication to a minimum, this is not 
universal. Even where there are opportunities to streamline the work of the 
PSB and discharge other plan and strategy obligations through the Local 
Wellbeing Plan, we found that PSBs are not necessarily taking them. 

3.12 For example, whilst most councils discharge their community planning 
functions and priorities for child poverty through their PSBs, and 
others have taken the opportunity to integrate their community safety 
partnerships into a sub group of the PSB (Bridgend and Swansea for 
example), progress in other areas has been limited. Strategies relating 
to Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence have 
mostly been regionalised and are not being discharged through the Local 
Wellbeing Plan. 

3.13 Undoubtedly, those we have spoken to and who responded to our call 
for evidence value the work of PSBs, but there are very different views 
on how they should evolve. As noted above, some favour fewer Boards 
operating across wider regional areas whilst others value PSBs reflecting 
local authority footprints and being tied more closely to communities. 
Others want to see PSBs and regional partnership boards being merged 
to reduce duplication, not least in attendance, but to also better co-
ordinate work on similar priorities. It is clear that there is no single model 
for partnership working and each partnership needs to reflect the local 
circumstances, priorities and context. And it is PSBs themselves who are 
best placed to decide when, where and how they wish to work together, 
and the Act is designed to ensure they have the flexibility to do so. 

18 Paper 3 (Annexe A), Working Group on Local Government, Meeting 25 January 2019. Page 84



 Review of Public Services Boards34

3.14 However, given the demands on public bodies to sustain and maintain 
so many partnership fora, there is a clear case for rationalising the 
current arrangements to free up capacity and reduce duplication. And 
the current review commissioned by the ‘Working Group on Local 
Government’ to map strategic partnerships19 and make recommendations 
for rationalisation should address this. To assist in this process, in the 
remainder of this section we consider how similar partnerships operate in 
Scotland and England and highlight key differences with Wales.  

PSBs are broadly similar to Community Planning Partnerships in 
Scotland, but partners in Scotland also deliver projects and co-
ordinate funding programmes

3.15 The approach in Wales is similar to the Community Planning20 system 
in Scotland. Community planning is the process by which councils and 
other public bodies work together, with local communities, businesses 
and voluntary groups, to plan and deliver better services and improve the 
lives of people who live in Scotland. The Local Government in Scotland 
Act 2003 provides the statutory basis for community planning. Community 
planning is led by Community Planning Partnerships (CPPs). There are 32 
CPPs, covering each council area, which include representatives from the 
following: 

 a the council: It has a statutory duty to ‘initiate, facilitate and maintain’ 
community planning. It is therefore responsible for taking the steps 
necessary to ensure community planning takes place. 

 b statutory partners: NHS boards, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and 
Islands Enterprise, Police Scotland, Scottish Fire and Rescue Service 
and regional transport partnerships.

 c other partners: These include other public bodies, further and higher 
education institutions, voluntary groups, community groups and 
business organisations.

19 https://www.wlga.wales/review-of-strategic-partnerships-june-2019 
20 The Community Planning model has been in place for a number of years and was most 

recently refreshed with the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015. Page 85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/1/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/1/contents
https://www.wlga.wales/review-of-strategic-partnerships-june-2019
https://www.gov.scot/publications/community-empowerment-scotland-act-2015-part-2-community-planning-guidance/pages/3/


Review of Public Services Boards 35

3.16 Unlike PSBs, CPPs are focused on delivering projects particularly at 
a community level. This work can include managing and assisting in 
asset transfer to community groups, working with communities to both 
build capacity and identify solutions and also investing in infrastructure 
and projects. For instance, the approach to involving communities in 
identifying and planning responses in Glasgow21. CPPs are also required 
to specifically consider how they can help contribute to poverty reduction 
and they must also assess the impact of their policy choices on people 
with protected characteristics. Importantly, CPPs must set out what public 
money is being spent locally and actively seek opportunities to reduce 
duplication, jointly bid for external finance and pool resources. 

3.17 CPPs have also acted as the co-ordinating body for national funding 
programmes; for instance, the Early Years Change Fund established 
in 2011 as a partnership fund between the Scottish Government, 
local government and the NHS totalling £274.25 million in investment. 
The CPPs provide oversight and co-ordination for this programme22. 
Consequently, CPP plans, which have a 10-year timescale, are focussed 
on operational delivery as well as setting the overall strategic direction for 
an area. There are therefore some important differences between CPPs 
and PSBs, namely, the former works more closely with the business 
sector, has oversight of funding and supports delivery of community 
projects. This is very different to PSBs.

21 https://www.glasgowcpp.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=19222 
22 https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-community-planning-partnerships-cpps-early-

years-change-fund-returns-9781786524355/pages/1/ Page 86

https://www.glasgowcpp.org.uk/index.aspx?articleid=19222
https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-community-planning-partnerships-cpps-early-years-change-fund-returns-9781786524355/pages/1/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-community-planning-partnerships-cpps-early-years-change-fund-returns-9781786524355/pages/1/


 Review of Public Services Boards36

Strategic partnership work in England is left to each council to 
determine and this has resulted in very different approaches 

3.18 The approach in Wales and Scotland, however, is sharply different to 
England. Increasingly, councils in England are choosing not to have a local 
strategic partnership forum, partly a reflection of less central direction, 
austerity and the cost of servicing and maintaining these forums, but also 
because of difficulties in quantifying impact and the speed of decision 
making. From our research we found that approaches in England tend 
to focus on one key priority – learning and skills, economic growth, 
preventing poverty, or digital delivery. And because there are no central 
mandated approaches or requirements, public bodies are left to determine 
how they respond, which has resulted in very different approaches with 
little consistency between regions. For instance:

 a the Derbyshire Partnership Forum23 is one of the few remaining local 
strategic partnerships in England and primarily focuses on preventing 
poverty in rural areas. The Forum brings together over 60 public, 
private, voluntary and community sector organisations who work 
together to improve the quality of life for the people of Derbyshire. The 
Derbyshire Partnership integrates seven other strategic partnerships 
and runs a data observatory. The Derbyshire Partnership Forum 
is currently carrying out a fundamental review of its governance 
arrangements to refocus its priorities on fewer things where there are 
gaps in conventional service delivery and to further integrate efforts, for 
example, in youth safety prevention work.

 b Newcastle City Council’s Growing our City24 is focussed on attracting 
and encouraging investment in the city to grow the economy and create 
a more sustainable Newcastle. Key to this is the programme of work 
being developed under the Newcastle City Deal25, which supports the 
creation of an Accelerated Development Zone in the Newcastle and 
Gateshead corridor which is allowing the Council to regenerate the city 
centre and tackle poverty. Alongside this is the life and science and 
healthcare work which has levered in over £1 billion in investment and 
the Council’s partnership with Legal and General at the Helix site. 

23 https://www.derbyshirepartnership.gov.uk/home.aspx
24 https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/our-city/growing-our-city 
25 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/406293/

Newcastle-City-Deal-Paper.pdf Page 87

https://www.derbyshirepartnership.gov.uk/home.aspx
https://www.newcastle.gov.uk/our-city/growing-our-city
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/406293/Newcastle-City-Deal-Paper.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/406293/Newcastle-City-Deal-Paper.pdf


Review of Public Services Boards 37

 c the Essex Online Partnership26 is focusing on one key priority: to 
improve digital access, grow skills, and ensure all partners have 
access to the best integrated technology and data. The Partnership 
operates through a subscription model and is jointly led by Essex 
County Council and Essex Police. The partnership shares knowledge, 
resources and services to provide technology solutions, which support 
the business needs of each partner organisation and reduce the cost 
of their technology. Significantly, the partnership involves and includes 
networks of interest, schools and rural communities. 

 d Southampton Connect is an independent partnership which brings 
together senior city representatives seeking to address the key 
challenges and opportunities for Southampton and working with 
the city’s key partners to improve the outcomes of the people of 
Southampton27. Southampton Connect is chaired by the Hampshire 
Chamber of Commerce and is responsible for the delivery of the 
Southampton City Strategy which contains many of the features of a 
wellbeing assessment. Partners emphasise speed of action and ability 
to speak with one voice as clear tangible benefits. Rough sleeping 
is the partnership’s current priority based on public interest and local 
concerns.

3.19 From our analysis, one of the key differences between England and 
Wales is the freedom English councils have to determine their direction 
and purpose and the role of the private sector to support strategic activity. 
With less public money available to invest in services and regeneration 
activity, we found that English councils are focusing on strategically 
using their powers – in particular land use planning, the General Power 
of Competence28 (which currently does not exist in Wales) and the ability 
to negotiate reuse of income generated from flexing business rates – to 
encourage inward investment that helps tackle problems. This helps to 
increase employment and grow council tax revenues to reinvest in public 
services. 

26 http://www.eolp.info/ 
27 https://www.southampton.gov.uk/council-democracy/partnership-working/southampton-

connect.aspx
28 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the general power of competence in England which 

enables local authorities to do things an individual may generally do but anywhere in the 
UK or elsewhere. The power also allows authorities to do things for a commercial purpose 
or otherwise, for a charge or without a charge and without the need to demonstrate that it 
will benefit the authority, its area or citizens of the area. The general power of competence 
has extended the range of services which a local authority can lawfully provide. Page 88

http://www.eolp.info/
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/council-democracy/partnership-working/southampton-connect.aspx
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/council-democracy/partnership-working/southampton-connect.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5959/1896534.pdf


 Review of Public Services Boards38

3.20 However, because these approaches are negotiated and agreed by the 
UK government on a case by case basis, there is no uniformity between 
councils nor a core focus for action that all councils are prioritising. 
Councils are essentially left to ‘get on with it’ with little external support, 
oversight or challenge, which is inherently risky, especially when things 
go wrong. This is very different to the Welsh Government policy for PSBs, 
which promotes a ‘public sector led’ response to addressing challenges. 
Whilst the Welsh Government’s guidance references the private sector 
and businesses, they are not identified as core PSB members and their 
role and contribution to date in Wales are not as central to the work of 
PSBs, with one or two exceptions, which is different to England. 

3.21 Some, but not all, of the approaches in England are also developed under 
the auspices of City and Growth Deals29. City Deals also operate in Wales 
and are an agreement between the UK and Welsh governments and a 
city or city region. It gives the city and its surrounding area certain powers 
and freedom to take charge and responsibility of decisions that affect their 
area. City and Growth Deals are focussed on stimulating economic growth 
across an area, but also tackling barriers by, for instance, improving 
transport connectivity; increasing skill levels; supporting people into 
work; supporting businesses; and deciding how public money should be 
spent. A Growth Deal is very similar in purpose but is less geographically 
restrictive. 

3.22 There are currently two City Deals in Wales – the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal30 and the Swansea Bay City Deal31 – and proposals for 
development of Growth Deals in Mid Wales and North Wales. The local 
authority partners in each of the existing City Deals have established 
joint governance arrangements to oversee implementation of the deal. 
Given the potential City Deals have for making a positive impact on 
improving economic wellbeing it is important that their work is focused on 
delivering sustainable development in line with the Act, a key issue flagged 
by the Commissioner with public service leaders in correspondence32. 
Irrespective, they are also another major partnership that adds to what 
already is a complex picture of planning and delivery across the public 
sector.

29 City and Growth Deals have become one of the main tools for driving economic activity 
in the UK in recent years. A process that started with the major urban centres of England 
(outside London) has grown to include most of the large population centres across the UK. 
By their nature, these deals are unique to the area they spring from, and there is a great 
deal of variety in their scope and ambition.

30 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/508268/Cardiff_Capital_Region_City_Deal.pdf

31 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/611685/Swansea_City_Deal_-_English.pdf 

32 https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161212-City-deal-FinalEng.
pdf Page 89

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/508268/Cardiff_Capital_Region_City_Deal.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/508268/Cardiff_Capital_Region_City_Deal.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/611685/Swansea_City_Deal_-_English.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/611685/Swansea_City_Deal_-_English.pdf
https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161212-City-deal-FinalEng.pdf
https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161212-City-deal-FinalEng.pdf


Appendices

Appendix 1 – study methodology

Page 90



Review of Public Services Boards40

Appendix 1 – review methodology

Review of literature 

We have reviewed a wide range of documents and media, including: 

• evidence submitted to the National Assembly for Wales’ Equalities, Local 
Government and Communities Committee inquiry in relation to Public 
Services Boards;

• examining national policy, statutory guidance and the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act guidance and legislation;

• examining all PSB meeting reports, minutes and online information from 
2018 and 2019 and a sample of earlier documentation;

• checking PSB websites for accessibility and encouraging public involvement;

• reviewing financial information on PSBs;

• comparing public priorities in wellbeing assessments with wellbeing 
objectives;

• recording who attended PSB meetings and examining all PSB terms of 
reference where they exist;

• assessing if PSBs are streamlining their activity by integrating other statutory 
partnerships and plans/strategies;

• considering if PSBs are taking account of advice from the Future Generations 
Commissioner;

• reviewing all PSB related council scrutiny committee minutes, reports and 
annual reviews of scrutiny; and

• other relevant research and guidance from government, councils, CIPFA, and 
research bodies. 

Comparative research

We compared guidance and strategic partnership work in Wales with 
approaches in England and Scotland.

Call for evidence

We undertook a call for evidence of all PSB statutory and invited members and 
received responses from 51 members of PSBs covering all 19 PSBs. 

Page 91



Review of Public Services Boards 41

Interviews and focus groups

We interviewed representatives from the Future Generations Commissioners 
(FGC) Office, the Welsh Government, the Welsh Local Government Association 
and members of PSBs including council, fire and rescue authority, police and 
voluntary sector officers and PSB co-ordinators. We interviewed officers in 
councils in England and undertook fieldwork in Newcastle. We held focus 
groups with Wales Audit Office staff who are delivering Well-being of Future 
Generations audits at each of the 44 public bodies and have observed scrutiny 
meetings. 

Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Review of Public Services Boards42

Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

Rydym yn croesawu galwadau  
ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru
Page 97



                                                             

JOINT SCRUTINY OF THE CONWY & DENBIGHSHIRE
PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD (PSB)

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

Contact Officer: Rhian Evans, Scrutiny Co-ordinator, DCC
Dawn Hughes, Scrutiny & Committee Services Officer, CCBC

E-Mail: rhian.evans@denbighshire.gov.uk
dawn.hughes@conwy.gov.uk

Telephone: 01824 712554
01492 576061

P
age 98

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 8

mailto:rhian.evans@denbighshire.gov.uk
mailto:dawn.hughes@conwy.gov.uk


Date Subject

24/03/20 Progress update on the Public Services Board priorities

Supporting Good Mental Well-being for all ages (Richard Firth, Consultant in Public Health, Public Health 
Wales)

24/03/20 Contribution of PSB Partners to the work of the PSB  and the benefits of the PSB to partners

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board - (Bethan Jones, Area Director – Central, BCUHB)

TBC PSB’s Communication Plan/Engagement Strategy

Members could scrutinise the effectiveness of the PSB in communicating its objectives and outcomes to its 
stakeholders and residents

TBC Risk Register

The PSB is focussing on the development of a risk register, which could be an area of scrutiny.

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	1 AGENDA PACK
	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5a Community Empowerment Update (Judith Greenhalgh, Chief Executive of Denbighshire County Council)
	Community Empowerment Priority - December 2019 update

	5b Environment Priority Update (Sian Williams, Head of North Wales Operations for Natural Resources Wales)
	Appendix 1 - Progress Update on Environment Priority delivery plan
	Appendix 2 - PSB Environmental policy statement
	Appendix 3 - Community Green Pledges (English)

	7 Wales Audit Office - Review of Public Services Board and Action Plan
	WAO PSB review
	Contents
	Summary report
	Appendix 1 - study methodology


	8 Forward Work Programme and Items for next meeting on Tuesday, 24/03/20 @ 2.00 pm (Denbighshire County Council, Ruthin)


